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Performance report 

Overview 

Statement from the Chair and Chief Officer 
 
Welcome to the NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) 2015/16 
annual report. 
 
As the commissioners of many services in South Tyneside, we need to ensure that we 
work together with many other organisations. We are a clinically-led membership 
organisation made up of 27 general practices working alongside a range of other 
healthcare professionals, covering a local population of around 148,000.  
 
Throughout the year, we have been tackling some of the borough’s key health challenges, 
such as cancer, circulatory diseases, and good emotional health, by redesigning 
psychological therapies services as well as closer integration of health and social care 
teams, and a new model for urgent care. 
 
In developing a new model for urgent care, we commissioned a new urgent care hub 
model to work alongside A&E, which provides primary care services on site, ensuring that 
patients are streamed to the right professional to meet their care needs.   
 
We have launched Think Pharmacy First, which provides free consultations for everyone – 
and if you don’t pay for your prescriptions, you will be able to get free over the counter 
medicines through this scheme. This has already proved successful and we are now 
seeing up to 500 consultations per week. 
 
We have also introduced some new initiatives throughout the year, all aimed at improving 
people’s health in the borough. These include improving diabetes care by creating three 
new one-stop-shop style clinics and we have developed a new approach to delivering 
health and social care called integrated community teams, which was shortlisted for a 
National Health Service Journal award. 
 
We continue to strengthen our partnerships and have worked closely with many 
organisations such as South Tyneside Council, NHS England and organisations that 
provide hospital, community, voluntary and primary care services. This approach gives us 
a very real chance of achieving our key objectives and building an NHS fit for the 21st 
century, one which provides high quality, innovative, safe and efficient healthcare for the 
people of South Tyneside. 
 
Examples include joining forces with Mortimer Community College in South Shields, which 
was challenged to find new ways to raise awareness of key health issues like alcohol, self-
care and mental health. They came up with some excellent ideas to spread the word about 
some of the most difficult issues facing the NHS and patients alike.  
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We have worked with South Tyneside Council to develop ‘A Better U’ which is South 
Tyneside’s programme for supporting residents and patients to look after themselves (self-
care).  Through this programme we’re aiming to promote a culture of health and wellbeing 
that gives more control to local people over their own health.  This means changing 
conversations from “how can I help you?” to “how can you help yourself?” and from “what’s 
the matter with you?” to “what matters to you?” 
 
We couldn’t have done this without all our stakeholders, including our patients. We 
continue to gather experiences of health services through patient stories, projects that we 
are working on, through the Local Engagement Board, and via the CCG Patient Reference 
Group. Our patients play a vital role in ensuring that we serve the healthcare needs of 
South Tyneside. 
 
Finally, we would like to take this opportunity to thank all of our partners, stakeholders and 
members of the public and look forward to working with you all again in 2016/17.  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr Matthew Walmsley       Dr David Hambleton 
GP Chair        Chief Officer 

26th May 2016       26th May 2016 
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About NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group 

There are 27 GP practices covering a population of approximately 148,000 in South 
Tyneside. We have responsibility for the planning and commissioning of (buying of) local 
healthcare services. We are made up of doctors, nurses and other health professionals, 
working alongside experienced healthcare managers.  

Our health service responsibilities include the commissioning of: 

• Planned hospital care

• Urgent and emergency care

• Rehabilitation care

• Community health services

• Mental health and learning disability services

In order to achieve our vision, ‘Working collaboratively across South Tyneside to improve 
health and commission excellent health care’ by 2017, we have identified the following key 
strategies for moving from our current position to our desired future state: 

• Integrating health and social care services
• Improving patient experience
• Making the best use of resources

Clinical leadership 
The CCG Clinical Chair is Dr Matthew Walmsley, who chairs the Council of Practices and 
the Governing Body. The CCG Council of Practices comprises a GP from each of the 27 
member practices, giving the CCG a strong mandate from clinical leaders.  

Overview of South Tyneside 

South Tyneside has a population of around 148,000, with census projections predicting 
this will increase by 4% in the next ten years to 154,000.  

The mix of population by age is likely to change considerably, with projections predicting 
the population of working age adults will fall by 1%. It is predicted the number of people 
older than 65 will rise by 20%, from 27,000 to 32,000, by 2021. Over the same period it is 
predicted the number of people over 85 will increase by 40%, from 3,600 to 5,000. 

Older people use health and social care services more intensively than other population 
groups, hence the number of older people in South Tyneside has important implications for 
the planning of health and social care services. The ability to meet and respond to the 
needs of a population that is living longer, with increasingly complex needs, is a significant 
test for the health and social care economy. This challenge is compounded by the financial 
limitations faced by commissioners. 
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The need to meet these challenges is imminent, and there is a need to review and adapt 
the way in which health and social care services are commissioned and delivered if we are 
to continue meeting the needs of the people of South Tyneside. 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
The CCG is a key member of the local Health and Wellbeing Board, which has key 
statutory duties and powers to encourage integrated work of both commissioners and 
providers to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population, reduce inequalities, 
and improve the quality and experience of services for the local population. 

The CCG is represented on the board by Dr Matthew Walmsley, the Clinical Chair, and Dr 
David Hambleton, the Chief Officer. 

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy focuses on four key areas: 

• Reducing inequalities through prevention and early identification of risk

• Tackling youth unemployment

• Reducing social isolation in older people

• Improving the quality, integration and efficiency of local services

In particular, the CCG has worked across the partnership around the Health and Wellbeing 
Board priority area relating to “Integration”.   Our role in system wide transformational 
change in the development of Integrated Health and Social Care Community Teams is a 
testament to our commitment to this key Health and Well Being goal.  Additional 
information is included further within this report on this innovative service development.  
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From a health inequalities perspective, some of the challenges faced by the Health and 
Well Being Board are illustrated above.  In response, the CCG’s priority programme areas 
for 2015/16 included Cancer, End of Life Care, Mental Health and Diabetes.  Our progress 
against these is set out later on in this report.   

This report is an amalgam of our key areas of progress across the year. The CCG is in 
continuous dialogue with partners, through the health and Well Being Board and also 
through its sub Committee the Integration Board, which ensures that there is a consistent 
line of sight on the CCG’s on-going work plan at all times.    

Commissioning priorities for 2015/16 

Our vision is to work collaboratively across South Tyneside to improve health and 
commission excellent health care and is supported by three high level goals which 
describe the changes we aim to make. These include: 

• Integrate health and social care services

• Improve patient experience

• Make the best use of resources
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We have used a structured process to agree the following values which we will apply to all 
our commissioning decision making within South Tyneside; these also include the values 
set out in the NHS Constitution. 
 

 
 
To underpin this we’ve also set out strategic objectives which include: 

• Seamless planned care pathways, integrated within and across organisations 

• Streamlined urgent care services with a single point of access 

• Partnership delivery of personalised care and independent living for patients with 
long term conditions 

• Personalised care plans in mental health based on a stepped care approach with 
timely access to services 

• Improve the quality of prescribing and deliver agreed efficiencies 

 

Securing continuous improvement in the quality and safety of healthcare services 
 
We have a duty to secure continuous improvement in the quality of services and are 
committed to this in all aspects of our work.  
 
Our Quality Strategy (2014-2017) was developed to support the CCG to keep quality at the 
heart of all it does. It communicates the CCG’s vision, key drivers and ambitions for 
quality, and explains how it will deliver the vision. The CCG is now taking steps to create 
and embed a culture of continuous quality improvement, based on openness, 
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transparency and candour within the organisation and across the health and social care 
system. It has put quality at the centre of all our discussions with providers. 

We have embedded robust governance structures to provide assurance to the Governing 
Body and to NHS England, regarding the quality and safety of commissioned services. It 
has provided a challenge to providers where issues or concerns have been identified, and 
ensured that they are held to account appropriately where necessary. Moreover, it has 
focused attention on patient outcomes, and encouraged and nurtured a culture of 
openness, transparency and honesty with all providers, identifying examples of good 
practice as well as sharing lessons learned.   

This year, a particular area of focus has been the South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 
CQC quality report, published on 1st December 2015, which gave the trust an overall rating 
of ‘requires improvement’. The CQC inspection visits, carried out in May and June 2015, 
identified 21 areas of poor practice, with ‘must do’ actions for STFT to deliver 
improvements. STFT developed an action plan which was agreed by CQC, and progress 
against delivery of the actions is reported and monitored regularly at the Quality Review 
Group by both the CCG and CQC. It is worthy of note that the trust was rated ‘outstanding’ 
in the category ‘are services at this trust caring?’ 

We have put systems and processes in place to fulfil specific duties of co-operation and 
best practice in relation to safeguarding vulnerable people. 

We have ensured that the patient voice is heard by sharing patient stories with our 
committees, ensuring that good practice is commended and that any areas for 
improvement are identified with the respective providers and acted upon. The Quality 
Strategy monitors local and national patient experience data, themes and trends from user 
feedback, as well as complaints and concerns. It has robust processes in place to engage 
patients, carers and the public in the commissioning of services. 

We use a number of levers to support delivery of its vision for continuous quality 
improvement. It has various incentive schemes including the primary care incentive 
scheme for GP practices, and CQUIN (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) for NHS 
contracted services. The incentives are used to promote quality improvement and support 
the delivery of our key priorities. 

South Tyneside cancer strategy 
South Tyneside currently has one of the highest cancer mortality rates in the North East, 
and a one-year cancer survival rate of 66.5%, which is slightly lower than the national 
average.  

Our strategy is working to improve cancer survival rates in South Tyneside,  following a 
review of cancer services and the factors which impact on survival, including prevention, 
screening, early diagnosis and referral, and living with and beyond cancer. 
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The approach, which is also supported by South Tyneside Council and South Tyneside 
NHS Foundation Trust, involves using a cancer risk tool to help identify patients who are at 
risk, and an annual reminder to ensure patients are screened regularly. We have taken a 
number of steps to make it easier for GPs to ensure diagnosis and referral take place as 
early as possible. 

Improvements in patient experience and outcomes: As part of its work on cancer and other 
key programmes, on an annual basis the CCG commissions primary care to carry out 
additional deliverables, linked to the CCG priorities for the year.   As part of this scheme, 
South Tyneside practices have been prompted to review their care of those with Cancer. 
Through mainly self-reporting indicators, the CCG has attempted to get practices 
reviewing and improving their processes for caring for those living with this disease. 
Learning taken from the Cancer indicators include: 

• Over 50% of practices are now using the ‘birthday card’ reminder to promote the
benefits of regular screening

• Practices understand the need to inform patients on a two week wait pathway both
of the importance of this referral, and the reason it is so important

• Regular audits are undertaken when cancers are discovered via any other route
than a two week wait

Improving mental health services 
A number of improvements have been made to mental health services, including a new 
24/7 phone service making it easier to contact a specialist in a crisis situation.  

The introduction of street triage means a mental health nurse now travels to incidents with 
the police to offer on the spot advice and ensure that people are directed to mental health 
services if that is what they need. The number of arrests in these circumstances has 
dropped by 90% over the past year as a result. 

The CCG has commissioned an ‘ageless’ Lifecycle service to offer a single point of access 
to primary care mental health services; extending the existing talking therapies provision 
for adults to children and young people, and also to families. This innovative, integrated 
service will offer a positive patient experience by improving waiting times and improving 
access to support, particularly for children. 

The Mental Health lifecycle service has been fully operational since the beginning of 
March and already achieved referral rates of 50% of the forecast numbers.  Feedback on 
this reform work has been very positive especially from schools.  Our local authority 
schools liaison worker reports “Staff from a number of schools were really impressed with 
the training and found it really valuable and extremely well delivered. The group 
consensus was also that the communication from Lifecycle (Service) about individual 
young people was excellent and really supporting their work in school.”  
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Our IAPT performance remains strong. The year to date figures show that the proportion 
of adults entering psychological therapies is 18.3%, and overall rate moving to 
recovery  53.7%. Proportion of people waiting 18 weeks or less is 97.7%. Our strong 
performance has been recognised regionally and nationally.  We have been approached 
for advice by a number of CCG colleagues across the country and are currently in 
discussion with colleagues in the SCN to share learning with other areas to improve 
regional performance. 

Through a tight focus on waiting time reduction and the measurement of clinical outcomes 
within the specialist CYPS service we have achieved significant results. Clinical Outcomes 
as measured via HonOSCA show an overall medium clinical improvement effect. 85.9% of 
young people now wait less than 9 weeks from referral to treatment and there are no 
young people waiting more than 12 weeks between referral and treatment.   

One-stop clinics transform diabetes care 
Three new one-stop shop-style clinics are helping to improve diabetes care by bringing 
together nine separate annual health checks under one roof.  

The new facilities, which are funded by the CCG and operated by South Tyneside NHS 
Foundation Trust, offer a more personal service, with the vital tests carried out together 
instead of using several appointments at different times of the year.   

This simpler approach frees up GPs to spend more time with patients, planning their care 
together rather than using the time to carry out the tests themselves. Tests and services 
include BMI (body mass index), blood glucose, blood pressure, blood creatinine tests to 
check kidney function, cholesterol checks, urinary albumin tests for early kidney damage, 
plus retinal and foot screening and help with giving up smoking. 

Think Pharmacy First 
Think Pharmacy First, a campaign to encourage people to use expert advice from their 
local pharmacy and help ease pressure on hospital services, got underway this winter.  
The campaign, which was developed in partnership with Gateshead and South Tyneside 
Local Pharmaceutical Committee, is aimed at people with common or less serious 
illnesses, such as coughs, colds, upset stomachs and skin problems. 

Under the scheme, patients who don’t pay for prescriptions may be able to get free over 
the counter medicines. For those who do pay for prescriptions, it is likely that buying 
medicines from a pharmacy will be less expensive than the prescription charge. 

A major promotional campaign, including online, print and outdoor advertising, as well as 
media relations, took place to re-launch the scheme in April 2015. Between April 2015 and 
January 2016, there were a total of 14,714 minor ailment consultations delivered through 
the scheme, equating to around 450-500 consultations in community pharmacies every 
week. 71% of consultations have been for patients aged 18 and under; 7% have been for 
over-65s. 
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A measure of the success of Think Pharmacy First is that the North East Urgent and 
Emergency Care Network is now working to roll out the scheme across the region through 
the Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard. 

Improvements in patient experience and outcomes: the Minor Ailments Scheme now 
includes a much broader range of conditions which may be treated at the local pharmacy, 
and the scheme is provided at 39 accessible sites across the borough, many of which are 
available at weekends.  As such, this innovative service is providing local people with an 
overall improved primary care experience designed to meet their unplanned care needs, 
based around rapid access to treatment for a wide range of minor conditions across a 
range of accessible sites across the borough 7 days a week.  

End of life strategy 
In South Tyneside, people are more likely to die in hospital than in most other parts of the 
country (57% compared to 47% nationally and 49% across the North East). 

In order to tackle this we developed priorities that included: 
• Develop a seven-day service

• Ensure rapid access to care outside hospital 24/7

• Ensure appropriate workforce provision

• Ensure the appropriate estate and infrastructure

• Continue to provide education

• Support to care homes

To start this work, we held an event in October with our partners with the aim to increase 
the number of patients dying in their preferred place of care, reduce unnecessary hospital 
admissions and A&E attendances and increase education and training in end of life care 
for health professionals. 

Improvements in patient experience and outcomes: as part of its work on end of life care 
and other key programmes, on an annual basis the CCG commissions primary care to 
carry out additional deliverables, linked to the CCG priorities for the year.  The 15/16 
scheme has prompted quantifiable change within the CCG, in some very difficult areas; 
across the CCG, with end of life care reporting having improved dramatically: 

• As the number of patients on the End of Life register has increased, so has the
number of Advanced Care Plans; the percentage of those EoL patients with an ACP
has increased by 28%

• Preferred place of death has been recorded for an additional 397 patients over the
course of the scheme – this is an increase from 14.4% at the start of the scheme to
40.9% 
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• The number of patients who are on the End of Life register & have had a medication 
review using Shared Decision Making principles has increased by almost 36% 

• In September 2014, 95 patients on the End of Life register were recorded as having 
a DNACPR and/or ACP in place. Since then, there has been an additional 453 
patients recorded (475% increase) 

 

Changes to urgent care services 
A review of urgent care services was completed during the year, and as a result we 
commissioned a new urgent care hub model to work alongside A&E. With a range of 
services now available behind a single front door, patients can be guided to the right 
professional, first time – freeing up A&E staff to concentrate on genuine emergencies. 
 
National evidence showed that this would be the most clinically effective model, and local 
data indicated that more than half of A&E attendances at South Tyneside District Hospital 
required only verbal or written advice and no further treatment. 
 
We gathered comments from thousands of local people through a detailed public 
consultation, and identified six key concerns which were later endorsed by the 
independent reconfiguration panel. The Health and Wellbeing Board maintained oversight 
of these six recommendations, and was satisfied with the steps that were taken to address 
them. 
 
These included work to ensure good access to GP appointments, launching the Think 
Pharmacy First campaign, and reviewing travel, transport and access to the hospital site. 
 
In addition, South Tyneside Council is rolling out ‘A Better U’, a programme helping people 
to take more responsibility for their own health and wellbeing through improved self-care.  
The programme aims to promote a culture of health and wellbeing that gives more control 
to local people over their own health.  This means changing conversations from “how can I 
help you?” to “how can you help yourself?” and from “what’s the matter with you?” to “what 
matters to you?”.  ‘A Better U’ also supports people with long-term conditions to have a 
greater role in managing their condition. 
 

Integrated community teams 
A new approach to delivering health and social care is proving popular with local people 
and professionals delivering services in South Tyneside. New neighbourhood teams are 
bringing together district nurses and community matrons with the council’s social workers 
and occupational therapists, while working closely with local GP practices. Every patient 
has a care co-ordinator who makes sure their needs are met, while a ‘social navigator’ 
helps to access wider support in the community.  The teams’ caseloads are aligned to 
general practice lists, ensuring greater alignment with primary care. 
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The new approach, which was designed by frontline teams, has empowered staff to 
provide integrated care based on an individual’s needs, with support from the CCG, South 
Tyneside Council and South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust.  

By working together in an integrated way, the partner organisations can provide more 
patient-centred services, better continuity of care and more efficient use of resources. 
This work specifically links to the Health and Wellbeing Board priority area of “Integration”. 

Improvements in patient experience and outcomes:  As illustrated, a key component of the 
revised service model is that every patient on the team’s caseload has a named care co-
ordinator who is responsible for their care. Additionally, there are smaller teams 
responsible for providing care. Together, these factors mean more consistency in care for 
patients, improved communication between the patient, their families and the professionals 
providing the care, and most of all predictability and confidence in terms of who will visit 
and when. A number of patient stories have been gathered in relation to these changes 
and a link is provided below for one of these via You Tube whereby a patient explains the 
improvements in experience and outcomes from her perspective, as a direct result of 
these changes. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-CQN3VX5aaE 

The week of perfect discharges 
During September, we worked with South Tyneside Foundation Trust to support a week-
long ‘live’ improvement project known as ‘the week of perfect discharges’. 

Derived from the national Breaking the Cycle initiative, this worked hand in hand with the 
‘safer patient flow bundle’ to improve patient flow and produce a step-change in 
performance, safety and patient experience. 

The aim of the week was to focus upon real time hospital discharges, from the point when 
the patient was medically stable to the point that they left the hospital, ensuring safe and 
timely discharge with a good patient experience. 

This included reviewing processes to support discharge decision making and those 
adopted when a delay is encountered, using a range of improvement and productivity tools 
to build a picture of discharge processes and patient journeys. 

The week saw a shift in the pattern of discharges, increasing Saturday and Sunday 
discharges and levelling out activity across the week. This in turn had a positive impact on 
the number of beds available and improved patient flow.  

Primary care co-commissioning and working with GP practices 
Giving CCGs greater say over NHS England’s primary care commissioning responsibilities 
is part of the wider strategy to support the development of “place-based” commissioning 
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and join up care pathways. South Tyneside CCG currently participates in the co-
commissioning agenda at level 2 – joint arrangements. It is a critical step towards enabling 
the new models of care set out in the NHS Five Year Forward View, on the assumption 
that integrated commissioning is a key enabler of integrated provision 

Primary care strategy 
A new strategy for primary care in the borough is under development and will need to align 
with national policy and guidance around primary care services. We have been gathering 
views from our local GPs around the things which are important to them in terms of future 
service delivery with a focus on how to improve patient experience and outcomes, while 
acknowledging increasing financial and workload pressures.  We are aiming for the 
strategy to be written in the early part of 2016/17 and we will be engaging with local people 
and stakeholders around that time. 

The strategy will include the vision that was set out was for the NHS Five Year Forward 
View which talks about improving access for people who are ill as well as delivering 
personalised care to support people with long term conditions. The strategy will also focus 
on how to deal with increasing demand and workforce challenge in terms of the numbers 
of practice nurses and GPs entering training and being recruited nationally. 

Additional GP appointments 
Funding was received from NHS England in December 2015 to support system resilience 
over the winter period with a focus on general practice.  GP practices were opened for 
urgent appointments on 28 December 2015 and 2 January 2016 and a similar level of 
service continued every Saturday until the end of March 2016.  The funding for this service 
was provided to the CCG by NHS England and is non-recurrent. We will be evaluating the 
success of the scheme in early 2016/17 to inform future plans. 

Regional initiatives 

North East Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard  
We are working alongside the region’s NHS and other stakeholders to support the North 
East Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard, which is one of 50 vanguard programmes 
working towards new and more efficient models of service delivery as part of the NHS Five 
Year Forward View. 

The vanguard’s vision is to reduce unwarranted variation and improve the quality, safety 
and equity of urgent and emergency care provision, bringing together local System 
Resilience Groups (SRGs) and partners to transform the system at a scale and pace that 
would not be possible for a single SRG acting alone.    

The vanguard is supporting a range of initiatives, including a new ‘flight deck’ providing 
more sophisticated management of emergency care capacity across the region, an 
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improved directory of services, street triage for people in mental health distress, and a 
smartphone app for parents of young children. 
 

Transforming care for people with learning disabilities 
The North East and Cumbria has received £1.4 m from a national Transformation Fund to 
support plans to transform the care of people with learning disabilities and/or autism.  
 
The CCG’s Chief Officer, Dr David Hambleton, is the senior responsible officer for the 
regional transformation programme, which is one of six ‘Fast Track’ sites across England. 
The scheme reflects a national focus on reducing reliance on inpatient beds, while 
boosting community services and building upon an already highly skilled workforce to 
ensure people get the high quality services they need. By improving the care and support 
that we offer in the community and intervening early, we will need fewer beds in the future. 
 

Tackling winter pressures 
The CCG has worked with NHS bodies across the North East to support the national Stay 
Well This Winter campaign.   
 
The national campaign was launched by NHS England and Public Health England, with 
the region’s CCGs adding additional online, on-street and bus advertising as well as a link-
up with radio stations Metro, Magic and TFM. 
 
The campaign encouraged people to prepare for common winter ailments which can be 
easily treated at home or with advice from a pharmacist, keeping appointments with 
doctors and nurses open for those who really need them. 
 
Additionally, the CCG has worked through the System Resilience Group to ensure a 
partnership focus throughout the system to tackle winter pressures. Following the previous 
winter, which was one of the busiest on record for the NHS, this group met weekly to 
discuss issues and proactively address problems.  This resulted in the commissioning of a 
number of additional services and schemes to provide increased resilience over the busy 
winter period. 

Patient and public engagement 
Public and patient engagement is an integral part of the work that the CCG does.  
Engagement and consultation with partners, public, patients, carers and Healthwatch, as 
well as a range of other stakeholders, has been a consistent thread throughout the 
development of our commissioning intentions.  
 
Our mechanisms have included the following regular meetings for a two-way engagement:  

• Local Engagement Board (LEB)  

• Bi-monthly updates to HealthNet  

• Patient Reference Group (PRG)  

• Presentations to People Select and Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

• Presentations to Healthwatch Board 
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Items discussed included: 

• Urgent care services

• Integrated teams

• South Tyneside Cancer Strategy

• Musculoskeletal services

• Cardiovascular disease

• Respiratory disease

• Cancer

• End of life care

Additionally, CCG staff have continued to engage with students through a three year 
Business in the Community partnership with Mortimer Community College, helping young 
people to learn about health issues. 

Our partners 
The CCG works with a range of partners, including: 

• South Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Board

• South Tyneside Council – in particular working with adult social care, housing and
public health and other committees in the council, including Scrutiny and People
Select Committees, as well as special commissions

• NHS providers of healthcare – NHS South Tyneside Foundation Trust,
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust, North East
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

• Other providers of NHS healthcare – independent sector, community and voluntary
sector

• NHS England

• South Tyneside Healthwatch

• Neighbouring CCGs

• The community and voluntary sector

• Local MPs

• Local schools

Each year a 360 degree stakeholder survey is completed to provide an analysis of the key 
partners of the CCG. Some of the highlights from this include: 

• 89% of stakeholders felt engaged with the CCG

• 96% of stakeholders felt they were able to raise concerns about the quality of local
services

• 89% of stakeholders have confidence in the CCG to commission high quality
services for the local population
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Key issues and risks 
We have outlined the key issues and risks throughout this annual report and accounts. 

Performance summary 
We have met the majority of the performance targets as set out in the NHS Constitution, 
NHS Outcome Framework and the Quality Premium. This information is outlined in the 
performance analysis. 

Performance analysis 

Performance measures 

Financial performance 
We delivered our statutory financial duties during the financial year 2015/16. 

The financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2016 are set out from page 91 of 
this report. 

The statements have been produced under International Financial Reporting Standards 
and in accordance with the Department of Health manual for accounts.   

In terms of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s statutory duties: 
Target met? 

Deliver surplus on revenue budgets of at least 1%  
Maintain running costs within £25 per head running cost 
allowance 

Maintain capital spending within capital resource limit N/A 
Ensure cash spending is within the cash limit set (>£250,000)  

The Clinical Commissioning Group achieved a revenue surplus of £3,437k against a 
resource limit of £246,067k or 1.4%.  The CCG had planned to deliver 1% surplus but was 
able to identify an opportunity to create more surplus that will be returned to the CCG in 
2016/17.  This will be important to the CCG, given that in 16/17 we will receive more 
limited growth funding as a result of changes to CCG allocations.   

Nevertheless, the achievement of surplus was challenging.   However, through a robust 
reporting system within the Clinical Commissioning Group and in collaboration with the 
North of England Commissioning Support Unit, we have effectively managed any identified 
pressures in year.   

The Executive Committee and Governing Body received financial reports on current 
performance and forecast positions at each meeting, within which key risks were identified.  
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The chart below shows the main areas of expenditure for the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 

Outcome framework 
Our performance is reviewed by NHS England to ensure that CCGs are delivering quality 
outcomes for patients, both locally and as part of the national standards. The following 
pages set out areas performing particularly well and some that still require improvement. 

Indicators described include: 

• A&E four hour waits

• Ambulance response times

• Ambulance handovers

• Cancer waiting times

• Reduction in avoidable emergency admissions

• Healthcare associated infections (MRSA and Clostridium difficile)

• Referral to treatment times

• Friends and Family Test

54% 

12% 

5% 

5% 

8% 

13% 

1% 2% 

CCG Expenditure % 

Hospital Care

Mental Health Services

Community Services

Better Care Fund

Individual Packages of Care

Prescribing / other Primary
Care

Running Costs

Other
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Urgent Care Performance   

Four Hour Waits in Accident & Emergency: 

In 2015/16, 6.6% of patients who required A&E services waited over 4 hours to be seen. 
This is 0.1 percentage points more than 2014/15.  
The CCG is 1.6 percentage points below standard in 2015/16.  

There has been significant work in 2015/16 lead by the South Tyneside Systems 
Resilience Group (SRG) to try and recover the A&E target. The SRG action plan focused 
on the whole system actions to improve quality and care. Whilst the target has not been 
achieved in 2015/16 the CCG has seen improved performance compared to 2014/15.   

A&E Decision to Admit to Admission > 12 Hours: 

South Tyneside NHS FT had no patients waiting more than 12 hours from the decision to 
admit to actual admission in the last two and a half years. 
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Ambulance Response Times: 

 We commission ambulance services from North East Ambulance Service NHS FT 
(NEAS) and specify that they comply with operational standards. 

During 2015/16, 25.0% of Cat A Red  1 patients who required an ambulance urgently 
because their condition was considered immediately life threatening waited over 8 minutes 
for an ambulance to arrive. This is a 0.3 percentage points increase from 2014/15. 
South Tyneside CCG was at standard in 2015/2016. 

During 2015/16, 27.6% of Cat A Red 2 patients who required an ambulance urgently 
because their condition was considered immediately life threatening waited over 8 minutes 
for an ambulance to arrive. This is a 3.9 percentage point increase from 2014/15. 
South Tyneside CCG was 1.3 percentage points above standard in 2014/15, yet is 2.6 
below standard in 2015/16. 
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In 2015/16, 4.7% of people who required a fully equipped ambulance to attend urgently but 
did not have a condition considered immediately life threatening waited over 19 minutes 
for the ambulance to arrive. This is a 1.5 percentage point increase from 2014/15. 
The CCG was 1.8 percentage points above standard in 2014/15. 2015/16 results indicate 
a decrease in performance, but still remain above standard. 

Cancer Waiting Times 

During 2015/16, 4.1% of patients waited more than two weeks for an outpatient 
appointment when referred by their GP urgently with suspected cancer. This is a decrease 
from 2014/15 (5.2%). 

South Tyneside CCG has been above standard for three consecutive years. 
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In 2015/16, 5.1% of people who were referred urgently for an outpatient appointment with 
breast symptoms waited more than two weeks for an outpatient appointment. This is a 1.7 
percentage point improvement from the previous year. 

The CCG has been above standard for three years. 

During the year 2015/16, 1.3% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 
days for treatment to commence. This is an increase from 2014/15 (0.8%). 

The CCG has been over standard for three years, although results show a decrease in 
performance. 
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In 2015/16, only 0.6% of people diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days for surgery to 
commence. 

South Tyneside CCG has been over standard for three consecutive years. 2015/16 results 
indicate that all patients received surgery within 31 days during the first three quarters of 
the year.  

In 2013/14 and 2014/15 all patients diagnosed with cancer received their drug treatment 
within 31 days. In 2015/16 0.3% of patients were treated after 31 days. 
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Throughout 2015/16, 1.0% of people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 
days for radiotherapy to commence. This is a 0.7 percentage point increase from the 
previous year. 

Results indicate that the CCG has been well above standard for three consecutive years. 

In 2015/16, 13.9% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for 
treatment to commence, following an urgent referral from their GP. This is 2.3 percentage 
points more than 2014/15. 
South Tyneside CCG has been 3.0 percentage points above standard in the last three 
consecutive years. 
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In 2015/16, 6.5% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for 
treatment to commence following referral from an NHS screening service. This is a 4.2 
percentage point increase from 2014/15. 

The CCG was 7.7 percentage points above standard in 2014/15. Results for 2015/16 have 
decreased by 4.2 percentage points, bringing the CCG 3.5 percentage points above 
standard. 

During 2015/16, 9.1% of people who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for 
treatment to commence, following a consultant’s decision to upgrade the priority of the 
patient.  This is a 6.3 percentage point improvement from 2014/15. 
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Reduction in Avoidable Emergency Admissions 

Between 2014/15 to 2015/16 there has been an increase of 210 Emergency Admissions 
per 100,000 population for South Tyneside CCG. 

Healthcare Associated Infections 

All CCGs have objectives for HCAIs set by NHS England. There is a zero tolerance of 
MSRA (Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus), which means that all commissioners 
and providers targets are zero.  
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There has been an increase in cases of C.difficile among South Tyneside CCG patients in 
the last year.  

The CCG has been below standard in 2014/15 and 2015/16.  

Mixed-Sex Accommodation 

Under the NHS constitution, providers of NHS funded care are expected to eliminate 
mixed sex accommodation. There have been five incidents in 2014/15 of the mixed sex 
accommodation standard. So far in 2015/16 there have been two incidents, both incidents 
were in a HDU setting and have undergone a full root cause analysis. 

Referral to Treatment 

At the start of the 2015/16 the referral to treatment targets were altered to focus on the % 
patient on an incomplete pathways.  Incomplete pathways means, the waiting time for 
patients who have not started treatment at the end of each month. 
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At the end of 2015/16, 5.3% of patients who continued to wait for treatment had waited in 
excess of 18 weeks, 0.1 less than last year. 
 
South Tyneside CCG has performed above standard in the last three consecutive years.  
 
 
 

Friends and Family Test 
 
The friends and family test is intended to be a simple metric against which to measure 
patient experience.  
 

FFT Inpatients Response: 
 

 
 
Response rates for Inpatients have remained above the national target throughout for the 
last two and a half years.  
 
  

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

1314_1 1314_2 1314_3 1314_4 1415_1 1415_2 1415_3 1415_4 1516_1 1516_2 1516_3

Standard SOUTH TYNESIDE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

Page 30 of 91 
 



NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

FFT Inpatients %age Recommended: 

 
Excluding a decrease in Q1 2014/15, the satisfaction has increased over the last two and 
a half years. 

FFT A&E Response: 

Response rates for A&E patients have been very diverse over the period. Most recent 
results show that South Tyneside NHS FT is below the national standard. 

FFT A&E %age Recommended: 

Satisfaction scores have been around the national target throughout the period, with 
improvements in 2015/16, bringing the provider above the national standard.  We continue 
to work closely with providers and partners to ensure delivery of these important 
standards. 
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Better Care Fund 
Below is an update on performance against the Better Care Fund (BCF) metrics, 
comparing the planned figures with the actual data up to 2015/16 Q3.  The table below 
provides a summary of performance against the BCF metrics and key actions to be taken 
to address performance issues. 

Performance 
Area 

15/16 Q3 performance RAG Key Actions on red/amber rated 

Non-elective 
admissions 

Non-elective admissions 
have not reduced in 
accordance with the BCF 
plan.  Biggest issue is in 
STFT where there is a higher 
than expected level of 
admissions. 

There was a total of 4,439 
non-elective admissions in 
Q3, an increase from 4,110 
in Q2.  

• 

• Roll out of Integrated Community teams – which
are aligned to GP practices, providing care
which is exclusively aligned to the registered
practice list

• Benchmark STCCG against peer areas
• Actions ongoing to develop a frailty strategy and

use of the early warning scores in primary care,
post the >75s audit

• GP weekend winter pressure opening
• Care homes plus scheme
• Partnership Respiratory group
• Work using NHS Rightcare tools has identified

opportunities around better outcomes, quality
and efficiency achievements for pathways
relating to CVD, respiratory and cancer. These
form a key part of the CCG’s own overall work
programme for 16/17 which partners are being
fully engaged and involved in.

Delayed 
Transfers of 
Care 

There was a total of 995 
delayed days in Q3, a slight 
decrease from Q2.  This 
figure is significantly higher 
than planned, however.  The 
planned Q3 figure was 344 
delayed days. 

 Hospitals in order of 
greatest delayed days – 
STFT, NUTH and NTW. 

Factors affecting the delays 
include; Patients choice, 
further none acute care and 
awaiting Package of Care in 
their own home. 

• Discussion of delays continues on a weekly
basis with main acute, social care and mental
health to identify barriers to discharge and
opportunities for improvement.

• There is 7-day Social Care cover and social
workers attend at 3x daily bed meetings.  There
is an MDT review of all patients over 7 days
length of stay each week led by a senior
manager.

• Patients medically stable waiting for care homes,
aim is to change message given by staff to
patients from the point of admission. A new
leaflet designed and awareness raising ongoing
with staff. Expected outcome is evidence of
quicker patient flow and reduction in delayed
discharges

• Safer care “perfect week” focusing on a perfect
week of discharges.

• Specific task and finish group on discharge
processes to residential step down facility

• Self-assessment against the NICE baseline tool
for transfers from hospital settings, mapping our
discharge processes against the NICE guidance

Permanent 
admissions 
to residential 
and nursing 
care 

Higher number of permanent 
admissions in Q1, 2 and 3 
than expected.  This may 
partly be explained by a 
reporting issue, with more 
people being recorded as 
having a permanent 
admission in the new social 
care system than the actual 

• Review of how care is being recorded in Liquid
Logic

• Work with Social Care teams to ensure care is
recorded correctly

• Audit to be complete prior to submission of Q4
figures
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Performance 
Area 

15/16 Q3 performance  RAG Key Actions on red/amber rated 

number of permanent 
admissions.  

Effectiveness 
of 
reablement 

 Proportion of older people 
still at home 91 days post-
discharge higher than 
predicted 

  

Feeling 
supported to 
manage 
LTCs 

 Proportion of people feeling 
supported to manage their 
long-term conditions slightly 
higher than expected in 
14/15 

  

Service user 
experience 

 Proportion of people saying 
they have control over their 
daily life was higher in 14/15 
than predicted 

  

 

Sustainable development 
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work 
in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and 
procure healthcare services. Sustainability means spending public money well, the smart 
and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy, resilient communities. By 
making the most of by making the most of social, environmental and economic assets we 
can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the context of rising cost 
of natural resources. 
 
We acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment 
by working hard to minimise our footprint. 
 
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, 
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% 
reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our 
carbon emissions by using this year as the baseline year. 

Policies 
In order to embed sustainability within our business it is important to explain where in our 
process and procedures sustainability features.  
 
Area Is sustainability considered? 
Commissioning (environmental) As part of the contracting process 
Commissioning (social impact) As part of the contracting process 
Suppliers’ impact As part of the contracting process 
Travel Within our travel and expenses policy 
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One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of a 
Sustainable Development Management Plan (SDMP). We will be giving further 
consideration to our SDMP in the near future. 

We do not currently use the Good Corporate Citizenship (GCC) tool or run awareness 
campaigns promoting sustainability. 

Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the 
healthcare estates, and to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects of 
heat waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. 
The organisation has identified the need for the development of a board approved plan for 
future climate change risks affecting our area and will be giving further consideration to 
this in the near future.. 

Partnerships 
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective contract 
mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare delivery. The NHS policy 
framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a 
sustainable manner. Crucially for us as a CCG, evidence of this commitment will need to 
be provided in part through contracting mechanisms.  

Performance  
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute 
towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, 
public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28% 
reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. It is our aim to meet this target by reducing our 
carbon emissions by using this year as the baseline year. Here's how we have done:  

Travel 
We can improve local air quality and improve the health of our community by promoting 
active travel – to our staff, through our providers and to the patients and public that use the 
services we commission.  

Every action counts and we are a lean organisation trying to realise efficiencies across the 
board for cost and carbon (CO2e) reductions. We support a culture for active travel to 
improve staff wellbeing and reduce sickness.  

As part of our commitment to and support of the environment’s every growing importance 
to sustainable travel, we have participated in the Go Smarter travel to work scheme and 
has achieved both the bronze and silver award. This scheme has given our employees 
advice on how to travel sustainably whilst getting to work and travelling for business 
purposes.   
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Energy 
Electricity Gas 

Use 34,445 101,393 
Cost (£) 3,548 2,763 
Carbon Emissions 19,803 21,273 

Waste 
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Clinical Use t 0.877 0.883 1.123 
Cost £ 316 318 404 
Carbon 
Emissions* 

kgCO
2

18 19 24 

Domestic Use t 2.517 2.534 5.072 
Cost £ 458 461 922 
Carbon 
Emissions* 

kgCO
2

501 504 1,009 

Recycling Use t 1.632 1.644 1.002 
Cost £ 198 199 121 
Carbon 
Emissions* 

kgCO
2

34 35 21 

Confidential Use t 1.253 1.262 1.544 
Cost £ 309 312 381 
Carbon 
Emissions* 

kgCO
2

26 26 32 

Water 
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Use m3 386 356 466 
Cost £ 1,763 1,706 1,891 
Carbon 
Emissions kgCO2 406 374 490 

Patient and public involvement 
The CCG continue to gather experiences of health services in South Tyneside through its 
programme of patient stories.  A patient story is presented to the CCG’s Quality and 
Patient Safety Committee each month and all stories are discussed with our Head of 
Quality and shared through the CCG. 

As part of the partnership with Mortimer Community College, through Business in the 
Community, the CCG Chief Officer presented at a Year 8 assembly on careers and the 
Chair and one of the clinical directors took part in mock interviews with Year 10 students.  
A series of activities were carried out with a group of Year 8 students on health messages 
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and the CCG organised a Health Morning for Year 9 students which included information 
on careers and health. 

The CCG Patient Reference Group, made up of patients from practice forums, meets bi-
monthly.  The group are asked to be involved in pathway re-designs and clinical projects 
and also contribute to agenda setting.  Agenda items have included: updates on a better u; 
an update on actions from the Francis Report; a presentation on stroke; a presentation 
from the CCG clinical director of mental health and learning disabilities; Think Pharmacy 
First; MSK and Out of Hours services procurements and prostate cancer.  One member of 
the group is a member of the CCG’s Cancer Locality Group and one member was involved 
in the BT Hub Engagement project.  Three members of the group have agreed to be part 
of the CCG’s Medicines Management Committee. 

Patients, third sector groups and members of the public have been involved in a number of 
pathway re-designs and clinical projects throughout the year.  Patients were involved in 
the assessment of bids for the mental health Lifecycle service.  A variety of groups took 
part in discussions about the Out of Hours services including the CCG’s Patient Reference 
Group; Talk to Us, a group for adults with learning disabilities and HealthNet, the local 
umbrella organisation for third sector organisations.  An online survey was made available 
to stakeholders to enable them to give their views.  Housebound patients were interviewed 
about the Chronic Disease Management Service and the feedback was discussed with the 
district nursing service. 

Patients, third sector groups and members of the public were involved in engagement 
around the MSK services procurement.  A member of the MSK Project Group presented at 
the Patient Reference Group, HealthNet and the Local Engagement Board enabling 
people to ask questions and give their views on proposals.  An online survey was made 
available to stakeholders to enable them to give their views.  The engagement report was 
fed into the Project Group to inform their work. 

In June and July patients attending A&E were surveyed to discover what other services 
they had accessed prior to visiting A&E.  The results of the survey were fed into the 
Systems Resilience Group.  Between November 15 and February 16 stories specifically 
about End of Life Care were collected.  Six relatives shared their experiences and the 
common themes identified in the report will help inform the work of the End of Life Group. 

Reducing inequality 
NHS South Tyneside CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector 
Equality Duty and we have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and 
human rights into account in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, 
employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in 
our work as shown below: 
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The Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) 
The EDS2 is a tool that has been designed by the NHS for the NHS to enable 
organisations to analyse their equality performance with the assistance of local 
stakeholders, prepare equality objectives and embed equality into mainstream 
commissioning activities. 

We have implemented the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been 
using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business 
functions and performance for the community, patients, carers and staff. 

This has also been an opportunity to raise equality in service commissioning and gain 
insight into the local population’s diverse health needs. 

Our equality objectives for 2013/14 have been reviewed and updated, and our equality 
objectives for 2015/2016 have now been developed and published. 

The Executive Committee has approved plans detailing actions we will take to ensure that 
individuals, communities and staff are treated equitably. Progress against these action 
plans is reported to the Executive regularly. 

Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 
In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty, the NHS Equality and Diversity 
Council has agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) 
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the 
workplace. 

One of these measures (alongside EDS2) is the Workforce Race Equality Standard 
(WRES) which asks NHS organisations to demonstrate progress against workforce 
equality by collecting and analysing their workforce data in relation to nine specific 
indicators. 

The most recent update from NHS England in July 2015 advised that CCGs are to have 
“due regard” to the WRES and are expected to apply the WRES to themselves.  

It has been recognised that for some CCGs this could be problematic due to having small 
workforces (fewer than 100 members of staff) and information becoming identifiable. 
Further guidance has been sought from NHS England on this issue. 

The CCG  has taken “due regard” themselves to the metrics contained in the Workforce 
Race Equality Standard to help improve workplace experiences and representation at all 
levels for black and minority ethnic staff. 

Meetings have been held with relevant parties and HR teams to ascertain what data is 
held against each indicator. A representative for the CCG attended the NHS England 
Event in Newcastle on 4 November and was advised to submit a report showing current 
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data for the CCG against each of the 9 indicators to the relevant committee by summer 
2016. 

The CCG continues to engage with NHS England, who acknowledges that further 
guidance is required for CCGs on how to effectively apply the standard, and are looking to 
publish further documentation at the beginning of February 2016. The CCG awaits this 
guidance to ensure compliance with the WRES. 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit and Guidance, which covers all equality 
groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (race, disability, gender, age, sexual 
orientation, religion/belief, marriage and civil partnership and gender re-assignment) in 
addition to Human Rights and Carers has been refreshed for 2016.  

Our EIA process ensures that we can consider the impact or effect, either positive or 
negative, of our policies, procedures and functions on various sections of the population 
we serve. For any negative impacts identified we will take immediate steps to deal with 
such issues as part of the Action Plan set out in the tool to make sure equity of service 
delivery is available for all as well as the opportunity to continuously monitor progress 
against challenges identified. 

The tool also now includes checks in relation the Accessible Information Standard to aid 
compliance with the Standard when commissioning services to ensure that information is 
provided to all service users and patients in a way they can understand. 

Our staff has been offered interactive training on how to complete the document as well as 
process guidance within the EIA, ‘Frequently Asked Questions, Impact Assessment 
Questions and a Process Flow chart are also available for reference. 

Governance 
Equality and Diversity is governed and reports into the Executive. The Executive ensures 
we are compliant with legislative, mandatory and regulatory requirements regarding 
equality and diversity, develops and delivers national and regional diversity-related 
initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues and opportunities, functions 
as a two-way conduit for information dissemination and escalation, monitors progress 
against the Equality Strategy and supports us in the achievement of key equality and 
diversity objectives. 

A bi-annual Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the Audit and Risk Committee, 
and by exception to the Governing Body, outlining relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 

Staff Training 
Equality and diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff with induction 
training on EDHR being provided for new starters and mandatory refresher training carried 
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out every three years. This includes online training assessments as well as face to face 
workshops as requested. 

Staff involved in the recruitment of new staff are also required to undertake recruitment 
and selection training which includes awareness of equality and diversity legislation as it 
relates to the recruitment process.  

Engagement and partnership working  
We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts as well as local voluntary sector 
organisations and community groups to identify the needs of the diverse local community 
we serve to improve health and healthcare for the local population.  

We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, focus groups and 
Healthwatch. 

As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to 
deliver this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders.  We 
aim to ensure that comments and feedback from our local communities are captured and, 
where possible, acted upon and give local people the opportunity to influence local health 
services on their terms and enable people to have their say using a variety of methods; 
from completing surveys to attending events and providing feedback either online, via 
post, text or telephone. We invite people to be involved as little or as much as they like, 
enabling them to help shape and influence the way NHS health services are 
commissioned.  

This year, through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely 
with other local NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy 
of the Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings.  

Accessibility and communications 
We ensure that our public buildings are accessible for people with a disability by ensuring 
all buildings have had disability access audits.  

We use everyday language solutions when an interpreter is required by telephone and 
when face to face interpreting may be needed. Information for patients and the general 
public is available in other languages or formats such as large print or Braille and audio, 
upon request.  
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Accessible Information Standard 
The Accessible Information Standard advises organisations how they should ensure that 
disabled patients receive information in formats that they can understand and they receive 
appropriate support to help them to communicate. 

The CCG understands that by 1 April 2016 all organisations that provide NHS or publicly 
funded adult social care must identify and record information and communication needs 
with service users: 

• At the first interaction or registration with their service

• As part of on-going routine interaction with the service by existing service users

We have acknowledged this commitment and included the Accessible Information 
Standard in our revised Equality Impact Assessments tool ensuring that the standard is 
considered and we are compliant when Equality Impact Assessing all new and existing 
services. 

Compliments and Complaints 
We welcome feedback, positive or negative, about people’s experience of local NHS 
services as this helps us to improve services for patients. 

Equal Opportunities for staff 
We can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and 
employment terms and conditions to ensure levels of pay and related terms and conditions 
are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of equal 
value, being entitled to equal pay. 

Two Tick Disability Symbol  
The CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a Two Tick Disability employer for 
2016. The symbol, awarded by Jobcentre Plus, demonstrates our commitment to employ, 
retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff.  

As a Two Tick Disability Symbol employer we have displayed five commitments regarding 
recruitment, training, retention, consultation and disability awareness: 

• To interview all disabled applicants who meet the minimum criteria for a job
vacancy and to consider them on their abilities

• To discuss with disabled employees, at any time but at least once a year, what both
parties can do to make sure disabled employees can develop and use their abilities

• To make every effort when employees become disabled to make sure they stay in
employment
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• To take action to ensure that all employees develop the appropriate level of
disability awareness needed to make these commitments work

• To review these commitments each year and assess what has been achieved, plan
ways to improve on them and let employees and Jobcentre Plus know about
progress and future plans

Leadership 
Our E&D lead for Equality and Diversity sits on the Executive Team and is a member of 
the Governing Body.  

Accountability report 

Corporate Governance report 

Members’ report for CCG 

Governing Body 
The main functions of the Governing Body are described in section 14L of the 2006 Health 
Service Act (inserted by section 25 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012). The 
Governing Body’s principal aim is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with its obligations to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently, economically and in line with relevant generally accepted principles 
of good governance. The CCG’s Constitution specifies the arrangements made by the 
CCG for the discharge of functions by the Governing Body. 

 Membership of the Governing Body is specified in the NHS (Clinical Commissioning 
Group) Regulations 2012 and must include: 

• At least six members (including its chair and deputy chair)
• Accountable officer
• At least one each of the following:

o An employee of the CCG who has a professional qualification in accountancy
and the expertise or experience to lead the financial management of the
CCG

o A registered nurse, other than one who falls within regulation 12(1)
o An individual who is a secondary care specialist, other than one who falls

within regulation 12(1)
o A lay person who is qualified for membership by virtue of regulation 12(3)
o Another lay person who is qualified for membership by virtue of regulation

12(4)

The CCG’s Constitution specifies that “each member of the governing body should share 
responsibility as part of a team to ensure that the group exercises its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically, with good governance and in accordance with the terms of its 
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constitution. Each brings their unique perspective, informed by their expertise and 
experience. Notwithstanding this, all members of the governing body have joint 
responsibility for every decision of the governing body regardless of their individual skills 
and experience”.  

The Governing Body is also supported by a number of committees which it has 
established and which provide regular reports to it. The executive team is responsible for 
the day-to-day running of the organisation and implementing decisions taken at a strategic 
level by the Board. 

The table below shows the members of the Governing Body during the year: 

Name Position 
Dr Matthew Walmsley GP Member, Chair 
Dr David Hambleton Chief Officer 
Kate Hudson Chief Finance Officer 
Stephen Clark Lay Member, Deputy Chair 
Dr Tarquin Cross Secondary Care Consultant 
Jeff Gosling Lay Member, Public & Patient Involvement 
Paul Morgan Lay Member, Governance, Chair of Audit & 

Risk Committee 
Dr Vis Nathan GP Member 
Ann Fox Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety 
Christine Briggs Director of Operations (Non voting) 

Division of responsibilities  
The Governing Body is satisfied that there is a clear division of responsibilities between 
the Chair and Chief Executive.  

Conflicts of interest  
The Governing Body is satisfied that no direct conflicts of interest exist for any member of 
the Board, an accurate register of interests is regularly maintained and that each Lay 
Member/Non-Executive Director is considered to be independent.  

The register of Directors’ Interests for 2015/16 is shown below. 
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Surname Forename Job Title / Position in the CCG Comments  2015 - 2016

 Walmsley  Matthew GP Chair Partner in Marsden Road Health Centre.  This is a research 
practice and receive funding to recruit to various research 
studies.
MRHC is a member of Federation South Tyneside Care    
Spouse is partner in Houghton Medical Group

 Clark Stephen Deputy Chair / Lay Member None 
Gosling Jeff Lay Member Trustee Treasurer – South Tyneside Indigent Sick Society

Morgan  Paul Lay Member Lay Member NHS England Performance Advisory Group’

 Cross  Tarquin Secondary Care Clinician Clinical Director for Medicine at North Tyneside General 
Hospital within Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation 
Trust

Nathan  Sreeni Vis- GP Member Lead GP
Practice is a member of Federation South Tyneside Care 
Director of Medics of Tyneside
GP specialist advisor to CQC

Hambleton  David Chief Officer 1. Non executive (unpaid) member of Board Of North of
England Mental Health Development Unit. 2. 
Wife is employed by North of England Commissioning 
Support Unit (NECS)

 Briggs Christine Director of Operations None 

Hudson  Kate Chief Finance Officer No interest to declare

 Fox  Ann Director of Nursing, Quality and 
Safety

Director – Communication Equation Ltd
Chair of Trustees – Mynewhair Charity
Board Member of the Royal College of Nursing Regional 
Board
Senior Advisor to the Faculty of Health and Life Sciences - 
Northumbria University
Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety - Sunderland CCG

Tose Jonathan Clinical Director, Planned Care, 
Contracting and Quality in 
Primary Care

Salaried GP at Central Surgery
Practice is a member of Federation South Tyneside Care 
Clinical Lead to Trafford CCG
Partner is a consultant at Salford Royal Hospital 
Manchester

Gordon James Clinical Director, Mental Health 
and Learning Disability

Clinical Director for Mental Health and Learning Disability
Partner in Imeary Street Surgery, South Shields
Work approximately one session per month for Gateshead 
CBC, GatDoc GP out of hours service
Wife researcher for University of Sunderland; works within a 
research group who may bid for NHS funded research or 
evaluation projects.  Not currently working on any such 
projects
GP partner vice chair of the LMC

Beattie Mathew Clinical Lead Urgent Care 
Procurement
CCG Member

Wife is Practice Nurse, Brunton Park
Clinical Director for Urgent Care and Long Term Conditions 
for South Tyneside CCG

Whitehead Ros Practice Enagement Lead Part-time business project manager
Co-opted member of the LMC
Practice is part of the NECS research programme
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Information Governance  
Each year the CCG submits compliance scores to the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre using the NHS Information Governance Toolkit. The toolkit is an online system 
which allows NHS organisations and partners to assess themselves against Department of 
Health information governance policies and standards. It also allows members of the 
public to view our progress on improving our information governance standards. The 
CCG’s Information Governance Toolkit overall score for 2015/16 was 72% and graded as 
an overall green rating.  

The CCG reported nine information governance incidents during 2015/16, none of which 
were graded with a high risk rating. None of the high risk incidents required reporting to the 
Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO). Six incidents were generated external to the 
organisation and three within the CCG. All nine incidents were categorised as minor - no 
harm. 

The CCG received 250 requests under the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act, 
all of which were responded to within the statutory 20-day timeframe 

Disclosure to auditors 
Each of the Governing Body members at the date of approval of this report confirms that: 

• So far as the Governing Body member is aware, there is no relevant audit information
of which the CCG’s auditors are unaware

• The Governing Body member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as
a Governing Body member to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006. 
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Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each clinical 
commissioning group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed 
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Dr David 
Hambleton to be the Accountable Officer of the clinical commissioning group. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety 
and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for 
keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of the clinical commissioning group and enable them to ensure that 
the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding 
the clinical commissioning group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed 
each clinical commissioning group to prepare for each financial year financial statements 
in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  

The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the clinical commissioning group and of its net expenditure, 
changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with 
the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in 
particular to: 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on
a consistent basis

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for
Accounts issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and
explain any material departures in the financial statements

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set 
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 
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I also confirm that:  

 as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the entity’s 
auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps 
that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of that information.  
 

 that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report and 
accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, balanced and 
understandable  

 
 
 
 
Dr David Hambleton 
Accountable Officer (Chief Officer) 
26th May 2016 
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Governance statements 
 
1. Introduction & Context 
 
1.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was licensed from 1 April 2013 under 
provisions enacted in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended the NHS Act 
2006.  
 
1.2 As at 1 April 2014, the CCG was licensed without conditions. 
 
1.3 The geographical area covered by NHS South Tyneside CCG is coterminous with the 
boundary of South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council and  the CCG commissions 
health care on behalf of a population of approximately 148,000. As a membership 
organisation the CCG comprises 27 practices that make up the membership, represented 
through the Council of Practices. The Governing Body is responsible for the day to day 
governance of the organisation in accordance with the delegated functions set out in the 
CCG’s Constitution. 

2. Scope of responsibility 
2.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally responsible, in 
accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money.  I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my CCG Accountable Officer Appointment 
Letter.  
 
2.2 I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and economically 
and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety 
and regularity. 
 

3. Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code 
3.1 We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we 
have reported on our Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice 
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to 
be relevant to the CCG together with other best practice. The guidance contained within 
the Code has enabled a detailed review of Governing Body effectiveness against the 
following criteria – leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration and relations 
with stakeholders. This was undertaken at a dedicated session of the Governing Body at 
which compliance with the Code was reviewed. In particular, having reviewed the 
effectiveness of the CCG’s governance framework and arrangements in relation to The UK 
Corporate Code of Governance (2014), I consider that the organisation complies with the 
principles and standards of best practice contained within the Code. 
 

4. The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework 
4.1 The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) states: 
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“The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good 
governance as are relevant to it.” 

4.2 The CCG has a Constitution based on the Department of Health’s Model Template that 
has been amended and approved to take into account subsequent guidance. Review of 
the CCG’s Constitution confirms that it complies with the elements of the self-certification 
checklist, including: 

• Specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its functions;

• Specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the functions of
the governing body

• The procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions

• The arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health services
are being or may be provided pursuant to its commissioning arrangements involved

• Arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of registers of
interests and management of conflicts of interests

• Arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about the
decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made

• Detailed Financial Policies and Scheme of Delegation

In keeping with the CCG as a membership organisation, there is an established Council of 
Practices which has reserved a limited number of matters to itself (as  specified in the 
CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation) having delegated the majority of functions 
and duties of the CCG through means of the Constitution to the Governing Body. The 
Council of Practices met on four occasions in 2015/16.  

4.3 During 2015/16, the Governing Body met on six occasions in public for which there 
was an annual cycle of business.  Agendas were structured to enable the Governing Body 
to deal with the range of its responsibilities including strategic, performance, quality 
assurance, risk and governance matters. The arrangements reflect the public service 
values of accountability, probity and openness and specify as Chief Officer my 
responsibility for ensuring that these values are met within the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 

4.4 A schedule of Governing Body and Governing Body Committee membership together 
with attendance record for 2015/16 is set out below: 
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Table 1: Governing Body and Committee meetings attendance record 

Name Title 
Audit & 
Risk 
Committee 

Quality & 
Patient 
Safety 
Committee 

Governing 
Body 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Dr Matthew 
Walmsley 

Chair 6 of 6 5 of 6 2 of 2 

Dr David 
Hambleton 

Chief Officer 3 of 6 6 of 6 

Mr Stephen 
Clark 

Lay 
Member/Deputy 
Chair 

5 of 5 6 of 6 4 of 6 2 of 2 

Dr Tarquin 
Cross 

Secondary Care 
Consultant 1 of 6 5 of 6 

Mrs Christine 
Briggs 

Director of 
Operations 6 of 6 

Mrs Ann Fox Director of 
Nursing, Quality 
and Safety 

6 of 6 4 of 6 

Mr Jeff 
Gosling 

Lay Member 3 of 5 5 of 6 6 of 6 2 of 2 

Ms Kate 
Hudson 

Chief Finance 
Officer 6 of 6 

Mr Paul 
Morgan 

Lay Member 5 of 5 6 of 6 1 of 2 

Dr Vis Nathan Elected GP 
Member 4 of 6 5 of 6 2 of 2 

Ms Amanda 
Healy 

Director of Public 
Health (Non-Voting 
Member of 
Governing Body) 

4 of 6 

Mrs Helen 
Watson 
(until 
September 
2015) 

Corporate Director 
of Children, Adults 
and Families (Non-
Voting Member of 
Governing Body) 

0 of 2 

Mr John 
Pearce 
(from March 
2016) 

Corporate Director 
of Children, Adults 
& Health (Non – 
Voting Member of 
Governing Body) 

1 of 1 

4.5 The CCG has operated throughout the year with a committee structure which meets 
statutory guidance and reflects best practice, including Remuneration Committee, Audit & 
Risk Committee, Quality & Patient Safety Committee and Executive Committee. In 
addition, the CCG established a Joint Primary Care Committee which is a joint committee 
of NHS England and NHS South Tyneside CCG with the primary purpose of 
collaboratively commissioning primary care medical services for the people of South 
Tyneside. The organisational structure including key committees is set out below: 
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4.6 Description of the established Governing Body Committees 
4.6.1 The roles of each of the Governing Body Committees are set out broadly below.  The 
Governing Body Committees have authority under the Scheme of Reservation and 
Delegation to establish sub committees or sub groups to enable them to fulfill their role.  
Each of the Governing Body Committees has detailed Terms of Reference which are 
made available on the CCG’s website. Each Committee is authorised by the Governing 
Body to pursue any activity within their Terms of Reference and within the Scheme of 
Reservation and Delegation.   

4.6.2 Remuneration Committee 
The Committee is established to advise on and recommend to the Governing Body the 
appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer and other staff paid 
through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework. The Committee also advises on and 
makes recommendations to the Governing Body on the remuneration for the role of Chair, 
remuneration and terms of service of any independent lay members and Clinical Directors 
and reviews any business cases for early retirement and redundancy. The Committee’s 
terms of reference are referenced within the CCG’s Constitution which is available on the 
CCG’s website. 

Figure 1: CCG and Governing Body committee structure 
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4.6.3 Audit & Risk Committee 
4.6.3.1 In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS 
Codes of Conduct and Accountability, the Committee provides the organisation with an 
independent and objective review of their financial systems, financial information and 
compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. The Committee 
reviews the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of integrated 
governance, risk management and internal control, across the whole of the organisation’s 
activities. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the Committee which focuses on the 
deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation of fraud. The Committee is a non-
executive committee of the Governing Body and has no executive powers, other than 
those specifically delegated in its terms of reference. Annually the Committee also carries 
out a self-assessment of its effectiveness. The Committee’s terms of reference are 
referenced within the CCG’s Constitution which is available on the CCG’s website. 

4.6.3.2 The Audit & Risk Committee as part of its terms of reference provides an Annual 
Report of its work to the Governing Body. The most recent report covers the year 2015/16. 
The principal purpose of the report is to give the Board an assurance as to the work 
carried out to support the Accountable Officer’s review of the internal control 
arrangements. The Committee’s cycle of business enables the Audit & Risk Committee to 
carry out its key objectives necessary to support its assurances regarding the 
effectiveness of the organisation’s internal controls.  

4.6.3.3 In accordance with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Audit and Risk 
Committee has also taken on the responsibility for the appointment of external auditors as 
an Auditor Panel. 

4.6.4 Quality &Patient Safety Committee 
4.6.4.1 The principal purpose of the Quality & Patient Safety Committee is to ensure that 
the appropriate governance systems and processes are in place to commission, monitor 
and ensure the delivery of high quality safe patient care in commissioned services and to 
facilitate, monitor and ensure quality improvement in general medical practice working with 
the NHS England. The Committee’s terms of reference are referenced within the CCG’s 
Constitution which is available on the CCG’s website. 

4.6.4.2 Significantly, during the year through its cycle of business, the Committee and its 
associated sub-committees have considered a number of quality and patient safety 
matters including monitoring provider quality and patient safety performance using a range 
of metrics. The committee has also considered a number of safeguarding issues and 
reviewed learning from Serious Case Reviews.  In addition, the committee has reviewed 
assurance reports regarding quality of care in nursing homes, medicines optimisation, 
CQUIN schemes (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation), etc. The Committee has 
produced a detailed report for the Governing Body providing details of the work it has 
undertaken in 2015/16. 
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4.6.5 Executive Committee 
4.6.5.1 The Executive Committee is responsible for delivery of the CCG’s overall 
management, to support the CCG to work efficiently, effectively and economically, 
ensuring clinical engagement and promoting the involvement of all member practices in 
the work of the CCG in securing improvements in commissioning of care and services. 
The Committee ensures best practice in its decision making, and in particular ensures that 
decisions are based on clear and transparent criteria. The Committee has delegated 
authority to commit expenditure according to the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and 
Delegation. 

4.6.6 Joint Primary Care Committee 
4.6.6.1 In year, the CCG established a Joint Primary Care Committee which is a joint 
committee of NHS England and NHS South Tyneside CCG formed with the primary 
purpose of co- commissioning primary medical services for the people of South Tyneside 
with the CCG operating at Level 2 (i.e. co-commissioning with NHS England). The Joint 
Committee has been constituted in accordance with NHS England guidance and 
comprises membership of NHS England (Cumbria and North East). In accordance with 
guidance and in order to avoid any conflicts of interests it is chaired by a Lay Member of 
the CCG and meets in public.  

4.6.7 Other Joint Committees 
4.6.7.1 Although provided in its Constitution, the CCG has not entered into any formal joint 
committees but has engaged with other CCGs and partners in South Tyneside, including 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and a number of its sub-committees such as its 
Integration Board. In addition, the CCG has entered into joint arrangements with the CCGs 
in the North of England to determine commissioning for health gain policies and to review 
and approve individual funding requests, including conducting an appeals process. There 
is also a partnership based systems Resilience Group in place within the area; its purpose 
to ensure system flow and resilience across the year. 

4.7 Review and assessment of Board Effectiveness  
4.7.1 As explained above (paragraph 3.1), the guidance contained within The UK 
Corporate Governance Code (2014) has enabled a detailed review of Governing Body 
effectiveness against the following criteria – leadership, effectiveness, accountability, 
remuneration and relations with stakeholders.  This was undertaken at a dedicated 
session of the Governing Body at which compliance with the Code was reviewed. Based 
on the principles and standards in the Code, the Governing Body has been able to identify 
areas for improvement to its own effectiveness. In year, the Governing Body also took the 
opportunity as part of its development to review and feedback on the effectiveness of each 
of its meetings using a standard template and criteria including evidence of constructive 
challenge, evidence of contributions beyond member disciplines, behaviour, pace and 
enthusiasm, etc.   
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5. The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework
5.1 A Risk Management Framework is in place which takes into account current guidance 
on risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO 31000:2009 
(formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety Agency in its 
approach to assessing risk. 

5.2 The Risk Management Framework sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment 
and management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of its overall objective to 
commission high quality and safe services. It provides guidance for the systematic and 
effective management of risk. Key elements of the Risk Management Framework include: 

• A clear statement of governing body and individual accountability for delivery of the
framework

• Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process

• A clearly defined process for delivering the framework including an implementation
plan to ensure that the framework and risk management awareness is
communicated to all staff

• Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk

• An agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from adverse
events supported by a “fair blame” culture and approach

• Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register

5.3 Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of mechanisms 
including the incident reporting system which identifies the risks that have already (or 
nearly) occurred from incidents or near misses; through our strategic planning system 
which ensures that all organisational objectives are rated for risks to achievement of 
delivery; and in our performance management system which rates all objectives for risk to 
delivery. There is a detailed Risk Register which is populated by all Executive Directors 
and regularly reviewed and updated. The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the Risk 
Register at each of its meetings. In addition, Governing Body reports are assessed for 
equality impact. Previously in a development session the Governing Body also explored its 
risk appetite relative to the type of decisions that it needed to make. 

5.4 A Governing Body Assurance Framework (AF) has been developed and approved by 
the Governing Body.  The Assurance Framework was reviewed at a Governing Body 
development session when it was mapped to current strategic objectives, and has been 
subsequently reviewed and updated following consideration at meetings of the Audit & 
Risk Committee and Governing Body. It has continued to be updated as further assurance 
has been provided and the impact of controls realised. It is mapped to the detailed Risk 
Register. The Assurance Framework enables the Governing Body to be aware of the risks 
to delivery of the organisation’s principal objectives and to ensure that effective controls 
and assurance are in place.  
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5.5 Through the CCG’s Communications and Engagement Strategy the CCG has 
delivered a broad range of engagement and involvement activities including engagement 
events and public meetings. A variety of local groups such as Healthwatch and Talk to Us, 
a group for adults with learning disabilities, were engaged around their experiences of Out 
of hours Services with feedback being incorporated into a report for the OOH Procurement 
Project Group. Patients and local people were engaged around experiences of 
musculoskeletal services; for example through the Patient Reference Group, HealthNet 
(the umbrella group for third sector organisations with an interest in health), the Local 
Engagement Board, and an online survey culminating in a report for the MSK Project 
Group. Surveys were completed in A&E during the summer of 2015 to find out if patients 
had contacted other health services before coming to A&E and what could be done to help 
them use other services. The report from this piece of work was presented to the CCG’s 
Systems Resilience Group. 

The CCG continues to attend and present regular updates at local groups in the borough 
and the CCG Patient Reference Group, with members from local practices, meets bi-
monthly. Patient stories continue to be collected to ensure patient and carer experiences 
are heard by the CCG; a patient story is presented by a patient or carer at the monthly 
Quality and Patient Safety Committee. The CCG is in the second year of a partnership 
with a local Community College through the Business in the Community programme. 
Events at the school have included mock interviews with Year 10 students and a health 
morning for Year 9 students, with a programme for 2016 having been agreed with the 
college. 

5.6 Our anti-fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s financial 
viability and probity. An annual Anti-Fraud Plan is agreed by the Audit & Risk Committee 
which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation of fraud. The 
CCG is also an active participant in the national counter fraud initiative. 

6. Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control
6.1 The risk management system has been implemented in accordance with agreed policy 
by the Director of Operations supported by the Operations and Engagement Manager, with 
expert input from the Commissioning Support Unit.   Additionally, the Chief Officer’s 
Scheme of Delegation clearly sets out the individual level responsibilities held at Director-
level in relation to risk management.  

6.2 The CCG’s integrated approach to risk management ensures that all risks are captured 
and monitored relating to quality and safeguarding, provider management, finance & QIPP 
and performance across the organisation. 

6.3 Current and potential risks are captured in the CCG’s risk register and include actions 
and timescales identified to minimise such risks. In accordance with local policy, the risk 
register is a log of risks that threaten the organisation’s success in achieving its aims and 
objectives and is populated through a risk assessment and evaluation process.  
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6.4 In-year risks 
Significant corporate risks which the CCG has identified and which it has continued to 
mitigate through its management actions are set out below: 

• Continuing Health Care costs

In year pressures have continued on Continuing Health Care expenditure. Actions
to mitigate the effects of this have included improving the interaction with the local
authority on timeliness of reporting financial reconciliation and streamlining of
associated working arrangements. Further, the CCG has reviewed and
consolidated its commissioning and general working arrangements with the local
authority around CHC, including a refreshed steering group and panel arrangement.
CHC risks continue to feature on the CCG’s risk register and are regularly reviewed
to assess the impact of mitigating actions.

• A&E 4 hour wait target at South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

During 2015/16, the A&E 4-hour standard was not achieved for Quarter 1, however,
was recovered in Quarter 2, following the implementation of the Systems Resilience
Group (SRG) Action Plan and significant efforts on the part of all partners.
Unfortunately, due to significant winter pressures the Quarter 3 performance stood
at 92.9% against the 95% threshold. Mitigating actions continue to be developed,
implemented and reviewed by the SRG, with regular reports to NHS England and
Monitor as required.  This scenario means that the CCG could not be fully assured
by NHS England during 15/16.

• Quality of Care within Care Homes

The quality in care homes has continued to be a risk and has been closely
monitored by the Quality & Patient Safety Committee (QPSC). The quality
monitoring process undertaken by the South Tyneside Council has been enhanced
to include clinical assessment as an integral part of the process to ensure that a
holistic approach to review of care and treatment is reported. This work is closely
linked with safeguarding which also reports regularly to the QPSC.

• Health Care Acquired Infection

Health Care Acquired infection (in particular C Diff) continues to be a challenge both
in the community and hospital environment. However, collaborative working
between providers, commissioners and the medicines optimisation team continues
via the Joint Healthcare Acquired Infection Improvement Group.

• Mortality Rates at South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust

South Tyneside Foundation Trust continues to be identified as an outlier for both
HSMR and SHMI mortality rates. The Trust have implemented a mortality review
group process and external independent review has confirmed the position is
affected negatively by the inclusion of St Benedict’s Hospice data and therefore
assurance has been gained that with the removal of St Benedict’s data the mortality
rates would be within the expected range. In order to provide ongoing assurance
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this continues to be monitored via the Quality Review Group and external 
assurance gained from the NHSE Quality Surveillance Group. 

• Safeguarding including  Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty 

Significant work has been undertaken this year in order to ensure all health staff are 
aware of the implications of the Care Act in particular in relation to the Mental 
Capacity Act/Deprivation of Liberty. The risk to the CCG is the incalculable financial 
risk associated with the possible unauthorised deprivation of liberty of those in 
receipt of care who may lack capacity. This is closely monitored within the joint 
commissioning arrangements. 

Safeguarding by its very nature presents risks and the CCG work closely as a 
strategic partner with both the adult and children’s safeguarding Boards to ensure 
safety of children and adults at risk. The activity of the boards and any learning is 
regularly reported into the QPSC. 

 

6.5 Future risks  
The pressures on the health service remain substantial including demographic change, 
increasing demand and, in particular for the CCG, financial constraints. 
 
In mitigation, the CCG has a number of work programmes underway to make high-impact 
changes including pathway transformation for CVD, respiratory disease and cancer, which 
each present significant opportunity in terms of improved outcomes, quality and efficiency.  
 
The CCG is working on standardising a high volume of pathways at pace, across primary 
and secondary care, with a view to improving quality through a reduction in variation. 
 
The 2016/17 operating framework requires CCGs to create a 2016/17 operational plan and 
to play a key role in the development of a five year Sustainability and Transformation Plan. 
At the time of writing the CCG is developing these key plans with partners from within 
South Tyneside and also on a wider footprint, e.g. on a South Tyneside and Sunderland 
basis (working with the two local hospital providers on plans for sustainable acute 
services) and with other CCGs at Northumberland and Tyne and Wear level.  
 
The CCG and Local Authority have continued to pool £21m in the Better Care Fund and 
will be reviewing progress and refreshing plans during April 2016 for 2016/17.  
 

6.6 Risks to compliance with the CCG’s Licence 
No risks have been identified to compliance with the CCG’s licence.  The CCG was 
licensed without any conditions attached to its authorisation.  During 2015/2016 
performance of the CCG and compliance with its licence has been assessed by the Area 
Team in line with NHS England’s CCG Assurance Framework and the CCG has been 
assured as good for well-led organisation, finance and planning, with limited (requiring 
improvement) for performance based on the failure to achieve the A&E 4-hour wait target. 
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7. The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control Framework
7.1 A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively 
and economically. The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a 
reasonable level rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control has been in 
place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2016 and up to the date of approval of the 
Annual Report and Accounts. 

7.2   Information Governance 
7.2.1 The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is supported by an 
information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides assurances to 
the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

7.2.2 The CCG has an Information Governance Framework in place comprising an 
approved Strategy, a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of 
mandatory training, information risk management, incident management and has also 
adopted and implemented the  Health and Social Care Information Centre’s (HSCIC), 
‘Checklist for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information Governance and Cyber 
Security Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation’.  

7.2.3 The organisation has in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting of 
level 2 Information Governance incidents to the Information Commissioner. This procedure 
outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures to be used in the 
event of a data security breach. The CCG reported 9 information governance incidents 
during 2015/16, none of which were graded with a high risk rating and requiring reporting 
to the Information Commissioner’s Office.  Six incidents were generated external to the 
organisation and 3 within the CCG. All 9 incidents were categorised as minor - no harm. 

7.2.4 Information Governance forms part of the agenda of the Quality & Patient Safety 
Committee which reports to the Governing Body. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott 
Guardian (Dr Matthew Walmsley) and Senior Information Risk Owner (Dr David 
Hambleton). 

7.2.5 Each year the CCG submits compliance scores to the Health and Social Care 
Information Centre using the NHS Information Governance Toolkit. The toolkit is an online 
system which allows NHS organisations and partners to assess themselves against DH 
information governance policies and standards. It also allows members of the public to 
view our progress on improving our information governance standards. The CCG’s 
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Information Governance Toolkit overall score for 2015/16 was 72% and graded as an 
overall green rating.  

7.2.6 The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. 
During the year the CCG received 250 requests under the Freedom of Information Act 
2000. All the requests were responded to within the statutory timescales. 

7.3 Pension Obligations  
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme 
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, 
employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in 
accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.  

7.4. Equality, Diversity and Human Rights  
Control measures are in place to ensure that the CCG is compliant with its obligations 
under equality, diversity and human rights legislation. 

7.5 Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of Resources  
7.5.1 The CCG developed a balanced financial plan for the year 2015/16 which included 
holding 0.5% contingency, use of 1.0% of allocation on a non-recurrent basis, and delivery 
of 1.0% surplus.  Within the plan the CCG also set a savings programme. Each meeting of 
the Executive Committee and of the Governing Body received a finance report detailing 
performance against plan.  In addition, the Audit & Risk Committee met informally to 
discuss finance issues on a monthly basis.   

7.5.2 Throughout the commissioning round for 2015/16 all major contracts were reviewed 
and where possible contractual efficiencies were pursued. During 2015/16 a full review of 
all CCG expenditure was undertaken and reported to the Audit & Risk Committee. 

7.5.3 The CCG also engaged with North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) Unit 
in ensuring that where benchmarking information was available it was used to compare 
CCG performance to other areas both locally and nationally and this was fed into 
contractual discussions and forward planning.   

7.5.4 A review of financial planning and savings programme is included within the CCG 
Internal Audit work programme.   

7.5.5 As part of their annual audit, the CCG’s external auditors are required to satisfy 
themselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of its resources.  They do this by examining documentary 
evidence and through discussions with senior managers. Their audit work is made 
available to and reviewed by the Audit & Risk Committee. 
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8. Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control

8.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control within the Clinical Commissioning Group.  

8.2 Capacity to Handle Risk 
8.2.1 As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for: 

• Ensuring the implementation of an effective Risk Management Framework,
including effective risk management systems and internal controls

• The development of the corporate governance and assurance framework

• Meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive performance towards
our strategic objectives

8.2.2 Each of the Directors of the CCG is responsible for; 
• Co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the Risk

Management Framework

• Ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to
implement improvements

• Ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk management
responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management Framework

• Incorporating risk management as a management technique within the performance
management arrangements for the organisation.

8.2.3 All Managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the risk 
management framework within their span of control and for ensuring that staff understand 
and apply the relevant framework in relation to risk management. All staff within the CCG 
are responsible for assisting in the implementation of the Risk Management Framework 
and for highlighting any areas of risk through the incident reporting procedures, a principal 
means through which the CCG manages risk and learns lessons.  

8.3. Review of Effectiveness 
8.3.1 My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the 
clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information 
available to me. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, the Audit & Risk 
Committee and the Quality & Patient Safety Committee and a plan to address weaknesses 
and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.   This takes the form of a 
range of performance reports and reports that identify mitigating actions in relation to 
identified risks. 
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8.3.2 The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principal 
objectives have been reviewed 

8.3.3 As part of the CCGs risk management processes, an Assurance Framework has 
been in place throughout the year which provides a simple yet comprehensive method for 
the effective and focussed management of the principal risks and assurances to meeting 
and delivering the CCG’s objectives. The Assurance Framework reflects the principal risks 
associated with the delivery of the CCGs strategic objectives.  This includes risks around 
the delivery of the CCGs strategic aims, and financial stability. The Assurance Framework 
details the key controls and assurances in place against each risk, together with any 
relevant action being taken to address gaps in controls and assurances where required.  

8.3.4 The Assurance Framework is complemented by detailed risk registers that record the 
full comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational and strategic level.  
There have been no significant issues that have revealed deficiencies as risks have 
materialised. 

8.4 Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
8.4.1 Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of 
risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
contributes to the assurances available to the Accounting Officer and the Governing Body 
which underpin the Governing Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the CCG’s 
system of internal control. It concluded that:  

 “The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

The purpose of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances 
available to the Accounting Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing 
Body’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal 
control. This opinion will in turn assist the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual 
Governance Statement. 

The overall opinion is that: 
On the basis of work carried out in accordance with the Annual Internal Audit Plan 
2015/16, significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system 
of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls 
are generally being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design 
and/or inconsistent application of controls, puts the achievement of particular 
objectives at risk. 
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The opinion is derived from the completion of a range of risk-based internal audit 
assignments, which have been undertaken in accordance with the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan 2015/16.  

Eleven reports have been issued with significant assurance given for all reports, with the 
exception of two audit reports for which limited assurance has been given. The audits 
were: 

Standards of Business Conduct 
One high, two medium and seven low priority issues were raised. The high priority issue 
related to the instance of non-compliance with the CCG’s “Standards of Business Conduct 
and Declarations of Interest Policy” by the Chair of the CCG’s Medicines Management 
Committee. This was identified when the MMC Chair declared an interest as a member of 
the clinical advisory board for a multinational pharmaceutical company on his Declaration 
of Interest Form in August 2015, the interest had not previously been declared in 
accordance with CCG policy. Whilst detailed enquiries were made of the individual and 
arrangements put in place by the Accountable Officer for any potential conflict to be 
managed, the audit report identified that the CCG had not performed any further 
investigation into the instances relating to potential conflicts, noting that failure to do this 
and take appropriate remedial action/learn lessons from this increases the risk of 
reputational damage to the CCG. Further investigation confirmed the veracity of the details 
related by the Chair of the Medicines Management Committee and the decision of the 
Accountable Officer to accept the explanations in good faith having been assured that the 
decisions arrived at were consistent with a view that they were not unduly influenced by 
the Chair’s conflict of interest, albeit in the absence of a formal declaration of the conflict of 
interest. In accordance with the Standards of Business Conduct policy the matter was 
reviewed in detail by the Audit  & Risk Committee to ensure that lessons were learnt. 

Compliance with Mental Health Act 
Section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 requires Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and local authorities to provide or arrange for the provision of after-care to patients 
detained in hospital for treatment under the Mental Health Act 1983, who then cease to be 
detained. This includes patients granted leave of absence under section 17 and patients 
going on community treatment orders (CTOs). CCGs are responsible for commissioning 
after-care for such patients whom are resident in their geographical area of responsibility, 
regardless of where they have been detained. This includes patients who become resident 
in the CCG’s geographical area of responsibility subsequent to section 117 after-care 
being approved by another CCG.  

The “Mental Health Act 1983: Code of Practice”, documents guidance in respect of the 
Mental Health Act 1983. The Code of Practice is statutory guidance for local authorities, 
but is not for commissioners; however, the Code of Practice recommends that 
commissioners adhere to the guidance. The Code of Practice, documents the duties of 
CCGs in respect of the commissioning of after-care. This includes planning for after-care 
for patients, maintaining appropriate records in respect of after-care, and making direct-
payments for after-care where necessary. 
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The report identified that the CCG does not have formal governance arrangements in 
place to ensure compliance with its responsibilities under section 117 of the Mental Health 
Act. Further, the report identified that the CCG does not monitor the services performed by 
NECS in order to ensure that risks to the CCG in relation to section 117 after-care are 
being managed appropriately. Arrangements have been put in place to ensure compliance 
with the management actions highlighted in the audit report. 

8.5 Third Party Assurances 
. 

• Payroll: The CCG payroll service is provided by Northumbria Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust. No issues of concern have been raised during the year.  The
assurance letter for 2015-16 was received on  11th May  2016 covering the following
areas; pensions, payroll, maternity pay, expenses and governance.  All areas
reviewed received an assurance level of significant with no issues of note.

• North of England Commissioning Support Service (NECS): During 2015/16 the
CCG identified the receipt of adequate assurances from the Commissioning
Support Unit (NECS) as a key risk.

• For 2015/16 it was agreed that Deloitte LLP would provide two ISAE 3402 reports;
the first covering the period 1 April 2015 to 30 September 2015 and the second
covering the period 1 October 2015 to 29 February 2016.  In addition a letter of
representation was provided by NECS covering March 2016.

• The provision of the reports and letter of representation for the full year gave
additional assurance to the CCG’s External Auditors and reduced the amount of
substantive testing undertaken by them as part of the annual accounts audit.

• The first report was received by the CCG in December 2015 and reviewed at the
Audit & Risk Committee.  The report identified a small number of relatively minor
control objectives that were not achieved in the period.

• The second report was received in April 2016 and raised a number of control issues
and actions by NECS to address the control weaknesses.  The CCG will seek
assurance from NECS that the actions have led to sustained improvement.

• The letter of representation from NECS was also received April 2016, the purpose
of the letter being to set out any significant changes to the control environment, and
the control procedures operated by NHS North of England CSU during the period 1
March 2016 to 31 March 2016, as well as reporting any known exceptions that
occurred in the period.  There have been no significant changes to the control
environment and there were minor exceptions on Controls in Accounts Payable that
were flagged in the Deloitte LLP ISAE report for October 2015 to February 2016.
NECS has advised that a review by senior management is currently being
undertaken to address the Control Objective more effectively.

• NHS Business Services Authority (BSA): The CCG relies on the BSA for
prescribing spend reporting. There were no significant issues reported in year in
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relation to any internal control issues at the BSA affecting the provision of the 
service to the CCG.  

8.6. Data Quality 
8.6.1 The NECS Data Management service have processes and systems in place to 
assess the quality and completeness of data managed on behalf of the CCG. Data is 
checked at all stages of processing through CSU (Commissioning Support Unit) systems 
and finally on publication of reports/analysis. Data is compared against historic and 
planned levels to provide assurance on completeness as well as with peer organisations in 
the form of benchmarking analysis. 

8.6.2 Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers on a monthly 
basis – feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any processing routines as 
required. The CCG utilises contract levers where necessary to ensure high quality data is 
captured at source and to minimise any updating of data once received by commissioners. 
Reconciliation accounts for each contract highlight any discrepancies between provider 
and commissioner data that are then investigated and resolved.  

8.6.3 Significant validation steps are in place in all routine data processing tasks to ensure 
poor quality data is not made available for analysis and then subsequently used as the 
basis for commissioning decisions. 

8.6.4 On the basis that reports presented to the Governing Body have been through this 
process, the Governing Body finds the quality of data presented acceptable. 

8.7. Business Critical Models 
8.7.1 The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of business 
critical models contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson report.  The 
Commissioning Support Unit holds all the business critical models that are used by the 
CCG. The CCG has received assurance that an appropriate framework and environment 
is in place to provide quality assurance of business critical models, in line with the 
recommendations in the Macpherson report. This assurance covers the period 1 April 
2015 to March 31 2016.  

8.7.2 Further assurance has been given that all business critical models have been 
identified and that information relating to the quality assurance processes for those models 
is available to the Analytical Oversight Committee chaired by the Chief Analyst in the 
Department of Health, as appropriate. 

8.8 Data Security 
8.8.1 The CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit and has self-
assessed as being level 2 overall compliant, which confirms the organisation’s rating as 
overall ‘satisfactory’ in this regard.  

8.8.2 There were no data security breaches of a serious rating identified in 2015/16. 
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8.8.3 NECS as the provider of IT services to the CCG has a range of controls in place.  
There are control objectives for Business Information Quality, Information Technology and 
Information Governance. These objectives include: physical access, segregation of duties,  
data centre environmental controls, IT processing, data backups, change management 
procedures, network security measures, system recovery and disaster recovery plans.  
Assurance is provided to the CCG on the effectiveness of these controls through the 
AAF01/06 (service auditor) report produced by Deloitte LLP.  During 2015/16 a report has 
been issued covering the period 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015. Control objectives 
were found to be suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance, with the exception of 
a number of control objective actions. These actions are subject to an action plan that will 
be monitored through internal control review processes. 

8.9 Discharge of Statutory Functions 
8.9.1 During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the clinical commissioning 
group and explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with 
extensive expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all relevant legislation. 
That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing 
Body decision and the scheme of delegation. 

 
8.9.2 In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the 
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that 
the clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements associated 
with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on 
delegation of those functions. 
 
8.9.3 Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and 
capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 

 

9. Conclusion 
In conclusion, my review confirms that the CCG has had a generally sound system of 
internal controls in place that supported the achievement of its policies, aims and 
objectives.  

 
 
 
Dr David Hambleton 
Accountable Officer  
26th May 2016 
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Independent Head of Audit opinion 

Roles and responsibilities 
The Governing Body is collectively accountable for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control and is responsible for putting in place arrangements for gaining assurance about 
the effectiveness of that overall system.   

The Annual Governance Statement is a statement by the Accounting Officer, on behalf of 
the Governing Body, setting out: 

• How the individual responsibilities of the Accounting Officer are discharged with
regard to maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the
achievement of policies, aims and objectives

• The purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the
risk management and review processes, including the Assurance Framework
process

• The conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control including any disclosures of significant control failures together with
assurances that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues
arising.

The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence 
required to support the Annual Governance Statement requirements. 

In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit is 
required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to the work performed, on 
the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and 
governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of internal control). This is achieved 
through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with management and approved by the Audit 
Committee, which should provide a reasonable level of assurance, subject to the inherent 
limitations described below.  
The opinion does not imply that internal audit has reviewed all risks and assurances 
relating to the organisation. The opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-
based plans generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance Framework. As 
such, it is one component that the Governing Body takes into account in making its Annual 
Governance Statement. 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
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Purpose of the head of Internal Audit opinion 
The purpose of my Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to 
the Accounting Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing Body’s own 
assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control. This opinion will in 
turn assist the Governing Body in the completion of its Annual Governance Statement. 

My opinion is set out as follows: 

• Overall opinion

• Basis for the opinion

• Commentary

Overall opinion 
My overall opinion is that: 

On the basis of work carried out in accordance with the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2015/16, 
significant assurance can be given that there is a generally sound system of internal control, 
designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied 
consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls, 
puts the achievement of particular objectives at risk. 

Basis for the opinion 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

• An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance
Framework and supporting processes

• An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have been
reported throughout the period. This assessment has taken account of the relative
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of addressing
control weaknesses

Commentary 
The commentary below provides the context for my opinion and together with the opinion should 
be read in its entirety. 

The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and supporting processes 

The Governing Body Assurance Framework has been updated for 2015/16, presented to both the 
Audit and Risk Committee and the Governing Body in September 2015. The Governing Body 
Assurance Framework 2015/16 is based on the CCG’s strategic objectives and an analysis of the 
principal risks to achieving those objectives. The key controls that have been put in place to 
manage the risks have been documented, and the sources of assurance for individual controls 
have been identified. It has been assessed by internal audit that the assurance framework is 
effective in bringing together all of the activities and objectives of the CCG. It provides the CCG 
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with a comprehensive mechanism for the management of the principal risks to meeting its strategic 
objectives and supports the compilation of the Annual Governance Statement.  

The CCG has developed risk management processes that are operating within the organisation. A 
risk management policy, supported by risk registers and appropriate procedures is in place. The 
Quality and Patient Safety Committee, together with the Audit and Risk Committee, oversee the 
risk management agenda and report to the Governing Body. They provide assurance to the 
Governing Body on the systems and processes by which the organisation leads, directs and 
controls its functions in order to achieve its strategic objectives. 

Individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments 

My opinion is derived from the completion of a range of risk-based internal audit assignments, 
which have been undertaken in accordance with the Annual Internal Audit Plan 2015/16. The 
outcome of internal audit work is reported to the Audit Committee and will be summarised in the 
Annual Internal Audit Report 2015/16 to be presented to the June 2016 Audit Committee. 

Thirteen reports have been issued to date, and a total of three high priority issues, fourteen 
medium priority issues and 27 low priority issues have been identified. We issued an assurance 
rating of ‘significant assurance’ for eleven out of thirteen reports issued. Two reports were given an 
assurance rating of ‘limited assurance’, details shown below.  

The internal audit of Standards of Business Conduct and Conflicts of Interest was given an 
assurance rating of ‘limited assurance’, and included one high priority issue, two medium priority 
issues and seven low priority issues. Action to address seven out of ten issues within the report 
has been implemented by management, implementation dates are not yet due for the remaining 
three issues.  The high priority issue within this report relates to decision making processes for the 
Medicines Management Committee and a potential conflict of interest. At the time of the audit, 
further investigation into the potential conflict of interest had not been performed. Subsequent to 
the audit, a review of decisions made by the Medicines Management Committee was undertaken 
and no actual conflict of interest was identified. 

The internal audit of Compliance with the Mental Health Act was also given an assurance rating of 
‘limited assurance’ and included two high priority issues. The CCG does not have up to date, 
formal joint governance arrangements in place with the local authority in respect of commissioning 
responsibilities for after-care under section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983. A joint protocol was 
drafted 18 months previously but has not yet been approved.  The second high priority issue 
relates to the lack of effective monitoring of the services provided by the North East 
Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) in respect of section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 
(NECS provides services on behalf of the CCG under the terms and agreement of a service level 
agreement in place). Action to address the issues within this report has been agreed with 
management, however is not yet due for implementation.  

We have four reports to issue. Whilst we have identified recommendations, there are no 
fundamental control weaknesses that impact upon our overall Head of Internal Audit Opinion of 
significant assurance. The remaining audit reports will be finalised and agreed with management, 
issued and assurance ratings summarised in the Annual Internal Audit Report 2015/16. 
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Conclusion 
Taking into account all of my findings, and the CCG’s actions in response to issues raised, I 
consider that there are no areas of significant weakness remaining that are relevant to the 
preparation of the Annual Governance Statement 

Acknowledgement  
The assistance provided by South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group staff during the course 
of our work is greatly appreciated. 

Amanda Bellis 
Head of Internal Audit 
May 2016 
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Remuneration and staff report 

The remuneration and staff report sets out the organisation’s remuneration policy for 
directors and senior managers, reports on how that policy has been implemented and sets 
out the amounts awarded to directors and senior managers and where relevant the link 
between performance and remuneration. 

Remuneration policy 

The remuneration committee was established to advise the Governing Body about pay, 
other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer and other senior staff. 
The remuneration committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s constitution, 
standing orders and scheme of delegation. The committee membership is as follows: 

Stephen Clark  Chair of Remuneration Committee/Lay Member 
Matthew Walmsley   CCG Chair 
Dr Vis Nathan     GP Member of Governing Body 
Jeff Gosling  Governing Body Lay Member 
Paul Morgan  Governing Body Lay Member 

The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to make 
recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for employees of the 
CCG and people who provide services to the CCG. 

The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy. 

Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is reviewed 
annually.  

There were no individual performance review payments made to any senior 
managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments in future 
years. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and 
guidance issued by the Department of Health. 

Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG are 
permanent in nature and subject to between three and six months’ notice of termination 
by either party. 

Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for 
within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made 
during the year to past senior managers. 

Page 69 of 91



NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group annual report and accounts 2015/16 

For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of “senior managers” is as per 
the CCG Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England: 

Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the clinical commissioning group. This means those 
who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the decisions of 
individual directorates or departments. 

It is considered that the Governing Body and Executive Committee members represent 
the senior managers of the CCG. 
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Single total figure remuneration table 

Table 1: South Tyneside CCG remuneration report 2015/16 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name Title Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Expenses 
payments 
(taxable to 
nearest £100) 

£00 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All pension 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 
Dr Matthew 
Walmsley 

GP Chair 40-45 - - - 10-12.5 50-55 

Stephen Clark Deputy 
Chair/Lay 
Member 

10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Jeff Gosling Lay Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Paul Morgan Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Dr Tarquin 
Cross 

Secondary Care 
Clinician 

5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr Sreeni Vis-
Nathan 

GP Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr David 
Hambleton 

Chief Officer 120-125 125 - - 5-7.5 135-140 

Christine 
Briggs 

Director of 
Operations 

100-105 - - - 27.5-30 125-130 

Kate Hudson Chief Finance 
Officer 

100-105 - - - 15-17.5 115-120 

Ann Fox Director of 
Nursing, Quality 
& Safety 

35-40  25 - - - 45-50 
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Name Title Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Expenses 
payments 
(taxable to 
nearest £100) 

£00 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All pension 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 
Dr Jonathan 
Tose 

GP Clinical 
Director, 
Planned Care, 
Contracting and 
Quality in 
Primary Care 

60-65 - - - 15-17.5 80-85 

Dr James 
Gordon 

Clinical Director 
(Mental Health 
& Learning 
Disability) 

45-50 - - - 10-12.5 55-60 

Dr Mathew 
Beattie 

Clinical Director 
(Urgent Care) 

35-40 - - - 90-92.5 125-130 

Dr Funmi 
Nixon 

Clinical Director 
(Long Term 
Conditions) 

10-15 - - - 5-7.5 20-25 

Ros Whitehead Practice 
Manager Lead 

10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to a lease car. 

Mrs Ann Fox is employed by NHS Sunderland CCG but also works for NHS South Tyneside CCG as part of a 60/40 staff sharing 
arrangement. The salary disclosed above shows the CCG’s share of remuneration of 40%. Their banded total remuneration in the 
financial year 2015/16 was £95,000 to £100,000. Pension related benefit information is reported in full by NHS Sunderland CCG. 
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Dr Tarquin Cross is employed by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Pension related benefits information is not reported by 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust because Dr Cross is not a senior manager of that organisation. 

Dr Mathew Beattie commenced employment on 1st July 2015. 

Dr Funmi Nixon left on 10th July 2015. 
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Table 2: South Tyneside CCG remuneration report 2014/15 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name Title Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Expenses 
payments 
(taxable to 
nearest £100) 

£00 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All pension 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 
Dr Matthew 
Walmsley 

GP Chair 40-45 - - - 5-7.5 45-50 

Stephen Clark Deputy 
Chair/Lay 
Member 

10-15 - - - - 10-15 

Jeff Gosling Lay Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Paul Morgan Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Dr Tarquin 
Cross 

Secondary Care 
Clinician 

5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr Sreeni Vis-
Nathan 

GP Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 

Dr David 
Hambleton 

Chief Officer 120-125 117 - - - 130-135 

Christine 
Briggs 

Director of 
Operations 

95-100 23 - - 25-27.5 125-130 

Kate Hudson Chief Finance 
Officer 

100-105 - - - 12.5-15 115-120 

Ann Fox Director of 
Nursing, Quality 
& Safety 

35-40 30 - - - 40-45 
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Name Title Salary 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Expenses 
payments 
(taxable to 
nearest £100) 

£00 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Long-term 
performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

All pension 
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 
Dr Jonathan 
Tose 

GP Clinical 
Director, 
Planned Care, 
Contracting and 
Quality in 
Primary Care 

60-65 - - - 15-17.5 80-85 

Dr James 
Gordon 

Clinical Director 
(Mental Health 
& Learning 
Disability) 

45-50 - - - 17.5-20 65-70 

Dr Mathew 
Beattie 

Clinical Director 
(Urgent Care)  

- - - - - - 

Dr Funmi 
Nixon 

Clinical Director 
(Long Term 
Conditions) 

45-50 - - - 135.137.5 180-185 

Ros Whitehead Practice 
Manager Lead 

- - - - - - 

Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease cars. 

Mrs Ann Fox is employed by NHS Sunderland CCG but also works for NHS South Tyneside CCG as part of a 60/40 staff sharing 
arrangement. The salary disclosed above shows the CCG’s share of remuneration. Their banded total remuneration in the financial 
year 2014/15 was £95,000 to £100,000. Pension related benefit information is reported in full by NHS Sunderland CCG.  

Dr Tarquin Cross is employed by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Pension related benefits information is not reported by 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust because Dr Cross is not a senior manager of that organisation. 
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Pensions entitlement table 

Table 3: South Tyneside CCG senior officers pension benefits 2015/16 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name Title Real 
increase 
in pension 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Real 
increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
pension 
age at 31 
March 
2016 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2016 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2015 

£000 

Real 
Increase in 
Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 
2016 

Employer’s 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension 

£000 
Dr Matthew 
Walmsley 

GP Chair 0-2.5 - 0-5 5-10 43 6 49 6 

Stephen 
Clark 

Deputy 
Chair/Lay 
Member 

- - - - - - - - 

Jeff 
Gosling 

Lay Member - - - - - - - - 

Paul 
Morgan 

Lay Member - - - - - - - - 

Dr Tarquin 
Cross 

Secondary 
Care 
Clinician 

- - - - - - - - 

Dr Sreeni 
Vis-Nathan 

GP Member - - - - - - - - 

Dr David 
Hambleton 

Chief Officer 0-2.5 2.5-5 40-45 120-125 749 24 772 17 
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Name Title Real 
increase 
in pension 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Real 
increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
pension 
age at 31 
March 
2016 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2016 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2015 

£000 

Real 
Increase in 
Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 
2016 

Employer’s 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension 

£000 
Christine 
Briggs 

Director of 
Operations 

0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 85-90 435 23 458 13 

Kate 
Hudson 

Chief 
Finance 
Officer 

0-2.5 - 25-30 65-70 348 15 363 14 

Ann Fox Director of 
Nursing, 
Quality & 
Safety 

- - - - - - - - 

Dr 
Jonathan 
Tose 

GP Clinical 
Director, 
Planned 
Care, 
Contracting 
and Quality 
in Primary 
Care 

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 30-35 161 13 174 14 

Dr James 
Gordon 

Clinical 
Director 
(Mental 
Health & 
Learning 
Disability) 

0-2.5 - 10-15 30-35 133 6 140 6 
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Name Title Real 
increase 
in pension 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Real 
increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
pension 
age at 31 
March 
2016 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2016 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2015 

£000 

Real 
Increase in 
Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 
2016 

Employer’s 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension 

£000 
Dr Mathew 
Beattie 

Clinical 
Director 
(Urgent 
Care) 

2.5-5 7.5-10 0-5 10-15 - 55 74 5 

Dr Funmi 
Nixon 

Clinical 
Director 
(Long Term 
Conditions) 

0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 25-30 147 2 152 2 

Ros 
Whitehead 

Practice 
Manager 
Lead 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Pensions related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions.  

Cash equivalent transfer value at 1st April 2015 has been inflated by 1.2%. 

Dr Tarquin Cross is employed by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Pension entitlement information is not reported by 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust because Dr Cross is not a senior manager of that organisation. 

Mrs Ann Fox is employed by NHS Sunderland CCG but also works for NHS South Tyneside CCG as part of a 60/40 staff sharing 
arrangement. Pension entitlement information is reported in full by NHS Sunderland CCG. 
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Table 4: South Tyneside CCG senior officers pension benefits 2014/15 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Name Title Real 
increase 
in pension 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Real 
increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
pension 
age at 31 
March 
2015 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2015 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2014 

£000 

Real 
Increase in 
Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 
2015 

Employer’s 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension 

£000 
Dr Matthew 
Walmsley 

GP Chair  0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 5-10 34 7 42 6 

Stephen 
Clark 

Deputy 
Chair/Lay 
Member 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Jeff 
Gosling 

Lay Member  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Paul 
Morgan 

Lay Member  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Dr Tarquin 
Cross 

Secondary 
Care 
Clinician 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Dr Sreeni 
Vis-Nathan 

GP Member  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Dr David 
Hambleton 

Chief Officer 0-2.5 0-2.5  35-40  115-120 693 29 740 17 

Christine 
Briggs 

Director of 
Operations 

0-2.5 5-7.5  25-30  85-90  383 36 430  13 
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Name Title Real 
increase 
in pension 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Real 
increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
pension 
age at 31 
March 
2015 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2015 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2014 

£000 

Real 
Increase in 
Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 
2015 

Employer’s 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension 

£000 
Kate 
Hudson 

Chief 
Finance 
Officer 

0-2.5 2.5-5  20-25  65-70  309 27 344  13 

Kate 
Hudson 

Chief 
Finance 
Officer 

0-2.5 2.5-5  20-25  65-70  309 27 344  13 

Ann Fox Director of 
Nursing, 
Quality & 
Safety 

- - - - - - - - 

Dr 
Jonathan 
Tose 

GP Clinical 
Director, 
Planned 
Care, 
Contracting 
and Quality 
in Primary 
Care 

0-2.5 2.5-5 10-15 30-35 135 21 159 9 
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Name Title Real 
increase 
in pension 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Real 
increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 
age 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

£000 

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
pension 
age at 31 
March 
2015 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2015 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 1 
April 2014 

£000 

Real 
Increase in 
Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value 

£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 31 
March 
2015 

Employer’s 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension 

£000 
Dr James 
Gordon 

Clinical 
Director 
(Mental 
Health & 
Learning 
Disability) 

0-2.5 2.5-5 10-15 30-35 112 17 132 7 

Dr James 
Gordon 

Clinical 
Director 
(Mental 
Health & 
Learning 
Disability) 

0-2.5 2.5-5 10-15 30-35 112 17 132 7 

Dr Matthew 
Beattie 

Clinical 
Director 
(Urgent 
Care) 

- - - - - - - - 

Dr Funmi 
Nixon 

Clinical 
Director 
(Long Term 
Conditions) 

5-7.5 17.5-20 5-10 25-30 98 45 145 7 

Ros 
Whitehead 

Practice 
Manager 
Lead 

- - - - - - - - 
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Dr Tarquin Cross is employed by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Pension entitlement information is not reported by 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust because Dr Cross is not a senior manager of that organisation. 

Mrs Ann Fox is employed by NHS Sunderland CCG but also works for NHS South Tyneside CCG as part of a 60/40 staff sharing 
arrangement. Pension entitlement information is reported in full by NHS Sunderland CCG. 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values  
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the 
pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable 
from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to 
secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member 
leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a 
senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension 
details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which 
the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional 
years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the 
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the 
Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE) discount rate from 
3.0% to 2.8%. This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report.  
Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and prepare annual reports, the 
CETV figures quoted in this report for members of the NHS Pension scheme are based on 
the previous discount rate and have not been recalculated. 

Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values  
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of 
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation and uses common market valuation 
factors for the start and end of the period. 

Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office 
There was no compensation on early retirement or for loss of office incurred during 
2015/16. 

Fair pay (ratios) disclosure 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the 
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation's workforce.  

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in South Tyneside CCG in the 
financial year 2015/16 was £130 – 135k (2014/15 £130 – 135k, restated to include 
benefits-in-kind). This was 3.0 times  
(2014/15, 3.1) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £44,261 (2014/15, 
£42,500).  

In 2015/16, no employee (2014/15, no employee) received remuneration in excess of the 
highest paid director. Remuneration for employees ranged from £6,453 to £103,512 
(2014/15 £7,608 to £103,512).  
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Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and 
benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions 
and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.  

Table 5: Pay multiples (this has been subjected to audit) 

2015/16 2014/15 
Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration 
(£'000)  130-135 130-135 

Median Total Remuneration (£) 44,261 42,500 
Ratio 3.0 3.1 

The median remuneration is calculated on an annualised basis and includes annualised 
remuneration for clinical staff working on a part time basis for the CCG. 2014/15 ratio has 
been restated to include annualised remuneration for clinical staff working on a part time 
basis for the CCG.  

Staff report 
As at 31st March 2016 the CCG had 27 employees. Average number of people employed 
is reported in the annual accounts at note 4.2. 

Table 6: South Tyneside CCG employee gender profile as at 31st March 2016 (this has been subjected to audit) 

Male Female 
Governing body members 6 1 
Senior managers 3 2 
Other CCG employees 1 14 
TOTAL CCG employees 10 17 

Staff Sickness Absence 
The CCG report staff sickness absence data in the financial statements. A table is 
included in the employee benefits note to the financial statements and shown 
in note 4.3 of the accounts. 

Staff Policies 
The CCG have policies in place relating to staff available on the CCG intranet and website. 
The policies support and assist all employees with guidance and policy information relating 
to wide range of Human Resources functions. The promotion of equality and diversity is 
actively pursued through these policies and ensure that employees receive fair, equitable 
and consistent treatment and ensure that employees, and potential employees, are not 
subject to direct or indirect discrimination. 
The CCG is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees and is committed to 
employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no employee, or 
potential employee, receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender, race, 
colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or belief, age, 
trade union membership, disability, offending background, domestic circumstances, social 
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and employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, political affiliation or any other 
personal characteristic.  
Diversity is viewed positively and, in recognising that everyone is different, the unique 
contribution that each individual’s experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued 
equally.  

Consultancy Expenditure 
Consultancy expenditure of £20k was incurred during 2015/16 (2014/15, £27k) 

Very Senior Manager Remuneration 
The Secretary of State wrote on 2 June 2015 to chairs of Clinical Commissioning Groups 
about the pay of Very Senior Managers (VSMs). Where one or more senior managers of a 
CCG are paid more than a pro rata of £142,500 per annum, equivalent to the Prime 
Minister’s salary, information is disclosed in the remuneration report. South Tyneside CCG  
have 4 senior managers that are paid more than a pro rata of £142,500 per annum. 
VSM Salaries were set at the establishment of the CCG in line with nationally mandated 
payscales.  The Remuneration Committee reviews the level of pay award applied to VSM 
on an annual basis and has determined that VSM pay award should not be inconsistent 
with that applied to non VSM staff, i.e. the nationally determined pay award for staff on 
"agenda for change" pay scales is applied to VSM. 
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Off payroll engagements  
Off payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, for more than £220 per day and that last 
longer than six months: 

Table 7: Off payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016 for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six 
months 

Number 
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2016 3 
Of which, the number that have existed: 
for less than one year at the time of reporting 1 
for between one and two years at the time of reporting 2 
for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 0 
for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0 
for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 

All existing off payroll engagements have at some point been subject to a risk based 
assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right 
amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought. 
For all new off payroll engagements between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016, for more 
than £220 per day and that last longer than six months: 

Table 8: New off payroll engagements between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 for more than £220 per day and 
that last longer than six months 

Number 
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016 

1 

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses giving 
South Tyneside CCG the right to request assurance in relation to 
income tax and National Insurance obligations 

0 

Number for whom assurance has been requested 1 
Of which: 
assurance has been received 0 
assurance has not been received 1 
engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 

Table 9: Off payroll engagements of CCG board members and senior managers as at 31 March 2016 

Number 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and senior 
managers with significant financial responsibility, during the financial 
year  

0 

Total number of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been 
deemed “board members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should 
include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements 

15 

There were no exit packages, including special (non contractual) payments made during 
2015/16 (this has been subjected to audit).  
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Independent Auditor’s report to the Governing Body of NHS South 
Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group 

We have audited the financial statements of NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning 
Group (the CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2016 under the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of 
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2015-16 Government Financial Reporting 
Manual (the 2015-16 FReM) as contained in the Department of Health Group Manual for 
Accounts 2015-16 (the 2015-16 MfA) and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS 
Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State as relevant to the 
National Health Service in England (the Accounts Direction). 
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is 
described as being subject to audit. 
This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, 
in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in 
paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies 
published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Governing Body of the CCG 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for 
this report or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and is also responsible for ensuring the 
regularity of expenditure and income. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. We are also responsible for giving an 
opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit 
Practice prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 (the "Code of Audit Practice"). 
As explained in the Annual Governance Statement the Accountable officer is responsible 
for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the 
CCG's resources. We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of 
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the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that our report must not contain our 
opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements are in place. 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 
CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing:  
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have 
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable Officer; 
and  
the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of 
any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for 
our report. 
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities 
which govern them. 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in November 2015, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it 
took properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 
sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor 
General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of 
Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2016. 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on 
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Opinion on the financial statements 
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In our opinion the financial statements: 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS South Tyneside Clinical 
Commissioning Group as at 31 March 2016 and of its net expenditure and income for the 
year then ended; and 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and 
the Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 

Opinion on regularity 

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion: 
the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Annual Report Directions made under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012); and 
the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the annual 
report and accounts is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we report by exception 

We are required to report to you if: 
in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by the 
NHS England; or 
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of 
the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the 
body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of 
action which, if followed to its conclusion , would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency; or 
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24, schedule 7 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24, schedule 7 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 
we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2016. 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 
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Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS South Tyneside 
Clinical Commissioning Group in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 
 
 
 
 
Cameron Waddell 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
 
Rivergreen Centre 
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TS 
 
26th May 2016 
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31-March-2016

2015-16 2014-15
Note £000 £000

Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits 4.1.1 1,291 1,261
Operating Expenses 5 241,937 237,102
Other operating revenue 2 (597) (620)
Net operating expenditure before interest 242,630 237,743

Investment Revenue 8 0 0
Other (gains)/losses 9 0 0
Finance costs 10 0 0
Net operating expenditure for the financial year 242,630 237,743

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption 11 0 0
Total Net Expenditure for the year 242,630 237,743

Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits 4.1.1 1,160 1,149
Operating Expenses 5 1,834 1,970
Other operating revenue 2 (20) (55)
Net administration costs before interest 2,974 3,064

Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits 4.1.1 131 112
Operating Expenses 5 240,102 235,132
Other operating revenue 2 (578) (565)
Net programme expenditure before interest 239,656 234,679

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 242,630 237,743

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31-March-2016

2015-16 2014-15

Note £000 £000
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 13 0 0
Intangible assets 14 0 0
Investment property 15 0 0
Trade and other receivables 17 0 0
Other financial assets 18 0 0
Total non-current assets 0 0

Current assets:
Inventories 16 0 0
Trade and other receivables 17 987 1,016
Other financial assets 18 0 0
Other current assets 19 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 20 181 231
Total current assets 1,168 1,247

Non-current assets held for sale 21 0 0

Total current assets 1,168 1,247

Total assets 1,168 1,247

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 (13,784) (13,893)
Other financial liabilities 24 0 0
Other liabilities 25 0 0
Borrowings 26 0 0
Provisions 30 0 0
Total current liabilities (13,784) (13,893)

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities (12,616) (12,646)

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 0 0
Other financial liabilities 24 0 0
Other liabilities 25 0 0
Borrowings 26 0 0
Provisions 30 0 0
Total non-current liabilities 0 0

Assets less Liabilities (12,616) (12,646)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (12,616) (12,646)
Total taxpayers' equity: (12,616) (12,646)

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 26th May 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Chief Accountable Officer
Dr. David Hambleton
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31-March-2016

General fund
Revaluation 

reserve
Other 

reserves
Total 

reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16

Balance at 1 April 2015 (12,646) 0 0 (12,646)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies 0 0 0 0
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2015 (12,646) 0 0 (12,646)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (242,630) (242,630)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (242,630) 0 0 (242,630)

Net funding 242,660 0 0 242,660

Balance at 31 March 2016 (12,616) 0 0 (12,616)

General fund
Revaluation 

reserve
Other 

reserves
Total 

reserves
£000 £000 £000 £000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15

Balance at 1 April 2014 (11,393) 0 0 (11,393)
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 
2013 transition 0 0 0 0
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014 (11,393) 0 0 (11,393)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating costs for the financial year (237,743) (237,743)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (237,743) 0 0 (237,743)

Net funding 236,490 0 0 236,490

Balance at 31 March 2015 (12,646) 0 0 (12,646)

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31-March-2016

2015-16 2014-15
Note £000 £000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (242,630) (237,743)
Depreciation and amortisation 5 0 2
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 29 764
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 23 (109) 535
Provisions utilised 30 0 0
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 30 0 0
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (242,710) (236,443)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 0 0
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 0 0

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (242,710) (236,443)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received 242,660 236,490
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 242,660 236,490

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 (50) 47

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 231 184

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 181 231

The notes on pages 5 to 25 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual 
for Accounts  issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Manual for Accounts 2015-16 issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts  follow 
International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as 
determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for Accounts  permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning 
group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group are 
described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as 
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same 
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements.  If 
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2  Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ 
only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting 
Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions 
(which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their 
transactions in the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.  
Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is 
disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to 
income and expenditure entries.

1.5 Charitable Funds
From 2014-15, the divergence from the Government Financial Reporting Manual that NHS Charitable Funds are not consolidated with bodies’ 
own returns is removed. Under the provisions of IAS 27: Consolidated & Separate Financial Statements, those Charitable Funds that fall under 
common control with NHS bodies are consolidated within the entities’ accounts.

1.6 Pooled Budgets
The Clinical Commissioning Group has a pooled budget arrangement with South Tyneside Council for the Better Care Fund, which the Council 
hosts. The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the income and expenditure of the pool as determined by the pooled budget 
agreement.

1.7 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those 
estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods.

1.7.1  Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying the 
clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.7.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Prescribing expenditure has been estimated based on ten months actual spend and two months forecast.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.8 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.9 Employee Benefits
1.9.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including 
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that 
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period : £14,291 in 2015/16 (£11,519 2014/15).

1.9.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme 
that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. 
The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and 
liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 
participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless 
of the method of payment.

1.10 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair 
value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation, 
which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.11 Property, Plant & Equipment
1.11.1 Recognition

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under 
single managerial control; or,
·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective
cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated
as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
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Notes to the financial statements

1.12 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases 
are classified as operating leases.

1.12.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned 
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as 
a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Details of leases held by the Clinical Commissioning Group can be found in the Operating Lease note (Note 12).
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are 
operating or finance leases.

1.13  Private Finance Initiative Transactions
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any Private Finance Initiative Transactions.

1.14  Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable 
approximation to fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not hold any stock as at 31st March 2016.

1.15 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents 
are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an 
integral part of the clinical commissioning group’s cash management.

1.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.55% (2014-15: minus 1.50%)
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1% (2014-15: minus 1.05%)
·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Minus 0.80% (2014-15: plus 2.20%)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has 
raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features 
to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which 
are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.17  Clinical Negligence Costs

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the 
NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS 
Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.18  Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk 
pooling schemes under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, 
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular 
claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.19 Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. 
Under the scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims. The clinical 
commissioning group's contribution in 2015/16 was £943,000 (2014/15 £334,000).
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Notes to the financial statements

1.20 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme
Carbon Reduction Commitment and similar allowances are accounted for as government grant funded intangible assets if they are not expected 
to be realised within twelve months, and otherwise as other current assets. They are valued at open market value. As the clinical commissioning 
group makes emissions, a provision is recognised with an offsetting transfer from deferred income. The provision is settled on surrender of the 
allowances. The asset, provision and deferred income amounts are valued at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The clinical 
commissioning group does not have any EU Emissions Trading scheme allowances as at 31st March 2016 and therefore this policy does not 
impact on this set of accounts.

1.21 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is 
not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence 
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
The clinical commissioning group has no contingencies as at 31st March 2016.

1.22 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the 
asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·                Held to maturity investments;
·                Available for sale financial assets; and,
·                Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.23 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de
recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.
1.23.1 Other Financial Liabilities

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except for loans from 
Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest 
method.

1.24 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.25 Losses & Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed 
legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the
generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would 
have been made good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums 
then being included as normal revenue expenditure).
The clinical commissioning group has not made any losses and special payments during 2015/16.

1.26 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2015-16, all of which 
are subject to consultation:
·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2015-16, were they applied in that year.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15

Total Admin Programme Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Education, training and research 1 1 0 0
Charitable and other contributions  to revenue expenditure: non-NHS 10 10 0 47
Non-patient care services to other bodies 580 3 578 565
Other revenue 6 6 0 9
Total other operating revenue 597 20 578 620

Administration revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

£
Children and Young People's IAPT Programme 32,750
Veteran's Wellbeing and Liaison Service 150,000
Care and Treatment Reviews funding 81,864
Development of a Tele-Health service for NHS111 59,439

3 Revenue

Revenue is totally from the supply of services. The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and credited to the General Fund, with the exception of : 
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.1.1 Employee benefits 2015-16

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,057 1,057 0 948 948 0 109 109 0
Social security costs 103 103 0 92 92 0 11 11 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 130 130 0 120 120 0 10 10 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,291 1,291 0 1,160 1,160 0 131 131 0

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 1,291 1,291 0 1,160 1,160 0 131 131 0

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 1,291 1,291 0 1,160 1,160 0 131 131 0

The Designated Nurse for Looked After Children is employed by NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group with 0.2 WTE being recharged and included in the numbers in the table above.

4.1.1 Employee benefits 2014-15

Total
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other Total

Permanent 
Employees Other

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,035 1,035 0 942 942 0 93 93 0
Social security costs 100 100 0 91 91 0 10 10 0
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 125 125 0 116 116 0 9 9 0
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,261 1,261 0 1,149 1,149 0 112 112 0

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 1,261 1,261 0 1,149 1,149 0 112 112 0

Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 1,261 1,261 0 1,149 1,149 0 112 112 0

Admin ProgrammeTotal

Total Admin Programme

The Director of Nursing and Quality for the Clinical Commissioning Group is employed by NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group with 0.4 WTE being recharged and included in the numbers in the table above.

The Personal Assistant to the Director of Nursing and Quality for the Clinical Commissioning Group is employed by NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group with 0.25 WTE being recharged and included in the numbers 
in the table above.
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2014-15

Total
Permanently 

employed Other Total
Number Number Number Number

Total 18 18 0 18

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2015-16 2014-15
Number Number

Total Days Lost 39 62
Total Staff Years 21 22
Average working Days Lost 1.8 2.8

The 2015/16 sickness figures are for the Period January - December 2015

The 2014/15 sickness figures are for the period January - December 2014

2015-16
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4.4 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits 
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not designed to be run in 
a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical 
commissioning group of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the Scheme for 

The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an accounting 
valuation every year. An outline of these follows:

4.4.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the Scheme (taking 
into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates to be paid by employers 
and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 
March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that date. Details can be found on the pension scheme 
website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. 

For 2015-16, employers’ contributions of £130,349 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2014-15: £125,388)
were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay. The scheme’s actuary reviews
employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT Valuation Directions, following a full scheme
valuation.  The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 and was published on the Government website on 9 
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5. Operating expenses
2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15

Total Admin Programme Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 831 700 131 807
Executive governing body members 460 460 0 454
Total gross employee benefits 1,291 1,160 131 1,261

Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 2,047 1,315 732 2,281
Services from foundation trusts 172,720 30 172,690 173,669
Services from other NHS trusts 177 0 177 147
Services from other NHS bodies 200 0 200 0
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 34,348 0 34,348 30,690
Chair and Non Executive Members 102 102 0 102
Supplies and services – clinical 0 0 0 4
Supplies and services – general 39 39 0 59
Consultancy services 20 20 0 27
Establishment 116 45 71 52
Transport 6 6 0 5
Premises 1,221 88 1,133 1,222
Depreciation 0 0 0 2
Audit fees 54 54 0 72
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Internal audit services 0 0 0 0
·          Other services 0 0 0 1
Prescribing costs 29,322 0 29,322 27,701
Pharmaceutical services 206 0 206 165
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 271 0 271 439
Other professional fees excl. audit 129 121 8 70
Clinical negligence 5 5 0 5
Education and training 11 10 1 55
CHC Risk Pool contributions 943 0 943 334
Total other costs 241,937 1,834 240,102 237,102

Total operating expenses 243,228 2,994 240,233 238,363

Administration expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

The external auditor of the Clinical Commissioning Group is Mazars LLP. The audit fee for 2015/16 was £54,000. 
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15
Number £000 Number £000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 5142 37,955 5184 30,804
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 5015 37,333 5077 30,307
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 97.53% 98.36% 97.94% 98.38%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 1473 175,289 1538 177,455
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1442 174,701 1500 176,607
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 97.90% 99.66% 97.53% 99.52%

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998

During 2015/16, the Clinical Commissioning Group had no late payment of commercial debts.

7 Income Generation Activities

8. Investment revenue

9. Other gains and losses

10. Finance costs

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any income generation activities in 2015/16.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any investment revenue as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any other gains and losses as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any finance costs as at 31st March 2016.
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11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption

12. Operating Leases

12.1 As lessee

12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2015-16 2014-15
Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 0 1,206 10 1,216 0 1,211 8 1,219
Contingent rents 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sub-lease payments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 1,206 10 1,216 0 1,211 8 1,219

12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 2015-16 2014-15
Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Payable:
No later than one year 0 0 3 3 0 -           3              3
Between one and five years 0 0 4 4 0 -           6              6
After five years 0 0 0 0 0 -           -          0
Total 0 0 7 7 0 0 9 9

The Clinical Commissioning Group has no net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption as at 31st March 2016.

The significant operating leases represented in the figure below are in relation to NHS Property Services and Community Health Partnership. In addition to the lease for the 
Clinical Commissioning Group headquarters, this figure also includes leases for properties which the Clinical Commissioning Group are deemed to be responsible for but do 
not occupy.

Whilst our arrangements with Community Health Partnership and NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years 
has not yet been agreed . Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

2015-16
Transport 
equipment Total 

£000 £000
Cost or valuation at 01-April-2015 3 3

Cost/Valuation At 31-March-2016 3 3

Depreciation 01-April-2015 3 3

Depreciation at 31-March-2016 3 3

Net Book Value at 31-March-2016 0 0

This asset has been purchased and is owned by the Clinical Commissioning Group.

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Revaluation Reserve balance as at 31st March 2016.

13.1 Additions to assets under construction

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no assets under construction as at 31st March 2016.

13.2 Donated assets

13.3 Government granted assets

13.4 Property revaluation

13.5 Compensation from third parties

13.6 Write downs to recoverable amount

13.7 Temporarily idle assets

13.8 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets

The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as follows:

2015-16 2014-15
£000 £000

Transport equipment 3 3
Total 3 3

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no temporarily idle assets as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any donated assets as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any government granted assets as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any property revaluation as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any compensation from third parties as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any assets which have been written down as at 31st March 
2016.
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14 Intangible non-current assets

Revaluation Reserve Balance for intangible assets

14.1 Donated assets

14.2 Government granted assets

14.3 Revaluation

14.4 Compensation from third parties

14.5 Write downs to recoverable amount

14.6 Non-capitalised assets

14.7 Temporarily idle assets

14.8 Cost or valuation of fully amortised assets

15 Investment property

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no investment property as at 31st March 2016.

16 Inventories

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no inventories as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no intangible assets as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any intangible asset revaluation as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any donated assets as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any government granted assets as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any revaluation as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any compensation from third parties as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any assets which have been written down as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any non-capitalised assets as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no temporarily idle assets as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no fully amortised assets as at 31st March 2016.
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17  Trade and other receivables Current Current
2015-16 2014-15

£000 £000

NHS receivables: Revenue 107 177
NHS prepayments 607 564
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 229 165
Non-NHS prepayments 44 109
VAT 1 1
Total Trade & other receivables 987 1,016

Total current and non current 987 1,016

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2015-16 0
£000 £000

By up to three months 161 4
By three to six months 0 124
By more than six months 0 0
Total 161 128

£106,661 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31st March 2016.

17.2  Provision for impairment of receivables

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not make any provision for impairment of receivables during 2015/16.

18 Other financial assets

The Clincial Commissioning group had no other financial assets as at 31st March 2016.

19 Other current assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other current assets as at 31st March 2016.

The majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide funding to Clinical Commissioning 
Groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

The Clinical Commissioning Group has no non-current receivables as at 31st March 2016.
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20 Cash and cash equivalents

2015-16 2014-15
£000 £000

Balance at 01-April-2015 231 184
Net change in year (50) 47
Balance at 31-March-2016 181 231

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 181 231
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 181 231

Balance at 31-March-2016 181 231

21 Non-current assets held for sale

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no non-current assets held for sale as at 31st March 2016.

22 Analysis of impairments and reversals

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no impairments or reversals of impairments recognised in expenditure during 
2015/16.

19



South Tyneside CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16

Current Current
2015-16 2014-15

£000 £000

NHS payables: revenue 2,757 172
NHS accruals 1,603 3,579
Non-NHS payables: revenue 468 326
Non-NHS accruals 8,874 9,732
Social security costs 15 14
Tax 19 18
Other payables 48 52
Total Trade & Other Payables 13,784 13,893

Total current and non-current 13,784 13,893

24 Other financial liabilities

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other financial liabilities as at 31st March 2016.

25 Other liabilities

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no other liabilities as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no Borrowings as at 31st March 2016.

27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements

28 Finance lease obligations

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no finance lease obligations as at 31st March 2016.

29 Finance lease receivables

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no finance lease receivables as at 31st March 2016.

30   Provisions

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no provisions as at 31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no PFI, LIFT or other service concession 
arrangements that were excluded from the SoFP as at 31st March 2016.

Under the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is 
responsible for accounting for liabilities relating to NHS Continuing Healthcare claims relating 
to periods of care before establishment of the Clinical Commissioning Group. However, the 
legal liability remains with the Clinical Commissioning Group. The total value of legacy NHS 
Continuing Healthcare provisions accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this Clinical 
Commissioning Group at 31st March 2016 is £2,087k (March 2015 £2,147k).

Other payables include £18,487 outstanding pension contributions at 31st March 2016.

23 Trade and other payables

26 Borrowings

In 2014/15, outstanding NHS balances were disclosed in NHS accruals. For 2015/16, these 
have been classified as NHS payables: revenue, which explains the movements in the note.

20



South Tyneside CCG - Annual Accounts 2015-16

31 Contingencies

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no contingencies as at 31st March 2016.

32 Commitments

32.1 Capital commitments

32.2 Other financial commitments

33 Financial instruments

33.1 Financial risk management

33.1.1 Currency risk

33.1.2 Interest rate risk

33.1.3 Credit risk

33.1.4 Liquidity risk

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no capital commitments not otherwise included in these financial statements as at 
31st March 2016.

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no non-cancellable contracts (which were not leases, PFI contracts or other service 
concession arrangements) as at 31st March 2016.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS 
England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund 
rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, the NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as 
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources 
voted annually by Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or 
changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.

Because the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk 
faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed 
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest 
surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks 
facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and internal auditors.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities 
being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
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33 Financial instruments cont'd

33.2 Financial assets

At ‘fair value 
through profit and 

loss’
Loans and 

Receivables
Available for 

Sale Total
2015-16 2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

£000 £000 £000 £000

Receivables:
·          NHS 0 107 0 107
·          Non-NHS 0 229 0 229
Cash at bank and in hand 0 181 0 181
Total at 31-March-2016 0 517 0 517

At ‘fair value 
through profit and 

loss’
Loans and 

Receivables
Available for 

Sale Total
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000 £000 £000

Receivables:
·          NHS 0 177 0 177
·          Non-NHS 0 165 0 165
Cash at bank and in hand 0 231 0 231
Total at 31-March-2015 0 573 0 573

33.3 Financial liabilities

At ‘fair value 
through profit and 

loss’ Other Total
2015-16 2015-16 2015-16

£000 £000 £000

Payables:
·          NHS 0 4,360 4,360
·          Non-NHS 0 9,390 9,390
Total at 31-March-2016 0 13,750 13,750

At ‘fair value 
through profit and 

loss’ Other Total
2014-15 2014-15 2014-15

£000 £000 £000

Payables:
·          NHS 0 3,750 3,750
·          Non-NHS 0 10,110 10,110
Total at 31-March-2015 0 13,861 13,861
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34 Operating segments

35 Pooled budgets

2015-16 2014-15
£000 £000

Income 0 0
Expenditure 12,592 0

36 NHS Lift investments

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no NHS Lift investments as at 31st March 2016.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group consider they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

Under s75 of the 2006 NHS Act, the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget agreement with South 
Tyneside Council in relation to the Better Care Fund. For accounting purposes management has assessed that joint control 
does not exist.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget in the financial 
year were:
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37 Related party transactions

2015/16 2014/15

Governing Body / Executive Committee member Related Party

Payments 
to Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party

 Payments 
to Related 

Party 

 Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Matthew Walmsley Marsden Road Health Centre 119             -               7              -             13             -             39           -             

Dr Tarquin Cross Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 573             -               113          -             583           -             270         -             

Dr David Hambleton NHS North of England CSU 2,105          (11)           23            -             2,131        -             -             -             

Dr Funmi Nixon Westoe Surgery 34              -               -             34             -             8             -             

Dr Funmi Nixon Gypsydoc Ltd 31              -               2              -             57             -             1             -             

Dr Jon Tose Central Surgery 136             -               2              -             158           -             35           -             

Dr James Gordon Imeary Street Surgery 28              -               1              -             35             -             10           -             

Dr James Gordon Gateshead Community Based Care 221             -               20            -             -                -             -             -             

Dr Sreeni Vis-Nathan Ravensworth Surgery 19              -               -               -             41             (5)           11           -             

Ms Ros Whitehead Ellison View Surgery 51              -               2              -             57             -             15           -             

Ms Ann Fox NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group 66              (175)         -               -             56             (168)        1             -             

* Dr David Hambleton's wife is employed by NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit.

All payments are made to the Related Party, not to the individual Governing Body member.

The details of the Member Practices of the Clinical Commissioning Group for 2015/16 are listed below :

Albert Road Surgery 20              -               -               -             28             -             -             -             
Central Surgery 136             -               2              -             158           -             35           -             
Chichester Practice 18              -               -               -             25             -             -             -             
Colliery Court Medical Group 57              -               -               -             63             -             -             -             
Dr Dowsett and Overs 41              -               -               -             46             (1)           -             -             
Dr Haque 15              -               -               -             30             -             -             -             
Dr Kulkarni 4                -               4              -             24             -             -             -             
Dr Thorniley-Walker and Partners 38              -               -               -             58             (5)           -             -             
East Wing Surgery 68              -               -               -             105           -             -             -             
Ellison View 51              -               2              -             57             -             15           -             
Farnham Medical Centre 153             -               -               -             139           (2)           -             -             
Flagg Court (Dr N Win) 18              -               -               -             19             -             -             -             
Flagg Court (Dr S Chander) 16              -               -               -             18             -             -             -             
Imeary Street Practice 28              -               1              -             34             -             10           -             
Jarrow GP Practice 1                -               -               -             5               -             -             -             
Marsden Road Health Centre 119             -               7              -             135           -             39           -             
Mayfield Medical Group 49              -               -               -             73             -             -             -             
Ravensworth Surgey 19              -               -               -             43             (5)           11           -             
St George and Riverside 28              -               -               -             80             -             -             -             
Talbot Medical Group 67              -               0              -             71             -             -             -             
The Glen Medical Group 45              -               -               -             71             -             -             -             
The Park Surgery 18              -               -               -             39             -             -             -             
Trinity Medical Centre 74              -               1              -             73             -             -             -             
Victoria Medical Centre 16              -               -               -             66             -             -             -             
Wawn Street Surgery 52              -               -               -             82             (6)           -             -             
Westoe Surgery 34              -               0              -             34             -             8             -             
Whitburn Surgery 33              -               -               -             53             -             -             -             

• NHS England ( including North of England Commissioning Support Unit ); 2,111          (336)         27            -             2,140        (190)        -             -             

• NHS Foundation Trusts, including;
City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 23,434        -               165          -             22,889      -             419         -             
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 8,669          -               177          -             7,261        -             709         -             
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 22,249        -               35            -             21,881      -             79           -             
South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 220             -               39            -             222           -             65           -             
The Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 12,033        (11)           312          -             11,790      -             453         -             
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 1,491          -               -               (96)         1,407        -             77           -             
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 6,796          -               2              -             7,089        -             -             (12)         
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 573             -               113          -             583           -             270         -             
South Tyneside NHS Foundation Trust 96,765      -             1,820     -           102,301    -             36         -           

• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

South Tyneside Council 24,559        (389)         989          (197)        15,414      (463)        3,260      (150)        

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material 
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:

 In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other Government departments and other central and local government bodies. 
Most of these transactions have been with South Tyneside Council. 
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38 Events after the end of the reporting period

39 Losses and special payments

The Clinical Commissioning Group has had no losses or special payments in 2015/16.

40 Third party assets

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no third party assets as at 31st March 2016.

41 Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2015-16 2015-16 2014-15 2014-15
Target Performance Target Performance

Expenditure not to exceed income 246,067 242,630 238,914 237,743
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 0 0 0
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 246,067 242,630 238,914 237,743
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 0 0 0 0
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 0 0 0 0
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified 
in Directions 3,541 2,974 4,167 3,064

42 Impact of IFRS

43 Analysis of charitable reserves

The Clinical Commissioning Group had no charitable reserves as at 31st March 2016.

Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the Clinical Commissioning Group during the 2015/16 financial year.

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. These statements were authorised for issue by Dr David Hambleton on 26th May 2016.

The purpose of this disclosure note in the accounts template is to demonstrate the difference in accounting treatment between the previous accounting 
framework and IFRS in relation to accounting for PFI and LIFT schemes.  The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any PFI or LIFT schemes so this 
disclosure is not required.
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